To transform in
a sustainable manner,
the lives of
all those we touch,
by nurturing
and empowering them
to maximize their
true potential.

How did we turn
into a leading
MNC in FMCG
business?
Simple, we pressed the right buttons.
At Marico, we have a burning desire to
be BIG. We fixed our goal and a sound
business plan to realize it.
We showed faith and persistence in our
efforts and made the tough decision of
never giving up.
We compete and win with the help of
better products. We create opportunities
for ourselves instead of waiting for them
to happen.

We encourage experimentation, however
small, to learn and to sharpen our skills.
We developed the ability to organize
information and derive meaningful
insight from it.
We constantly find ways to maximize
the potential of our partners. By forging
win-win relationships across our value
chain, we have grown and sustained our
businesses, yielding winning results time
after time - year after year.

Creating the country’s No.1 Coconut Oil
brand is one thing. Retaining the top
position is quite another.
By tapping into the minds of our
consumers and gaining a deeper
insightful understanding of what they
really seek, we were able to create
opportunities to leverage the brand in
different ways. Our range of advanced
consumer products provides the natural
goodness of coconut oil, while catering
to the needs of our consumers.

younger and more confident look to our
target consumer by helping them cover
their grey hair naturally. With products
like Saffola Gold, which helps manage
Cholesterol, we are building awareness
about health and a healthy lifestyle.
With Parachute Advansed Cooling
Hair Oil, which contains authentic
ayurvedic ingredients, we are helping
our consumer by providing, long lasting
stress relief, ensuring sound sleep, while
nourishing hair.

Expanding the market and growing our
Through introducing a pioneering product consumer franchise. No wonder, one out
of every three consumers in Bangladesh,
“Hair Code” in the hair dye segment,
today, uses Parachute.
we have been able to give a smarter,

How are we
able to show
a consistent
track record?

At Marico, we believe only a member
whose overall well-being is taken care
of, is inspired and motivated to deliver
results.
With our ‘More to Life’ philosophy, we
were able to enhance our relationship
with our people beyond the boundaries
of work.
From “Open session with Top
Management”, “Functional Movement”,
we do everything we can to maximize
the potential of our people, at home and
at work.

Our empowering work culture ensures
that they don’t see themselves merely
as managers of a company, but as
entrepreneurs driving their own
business.
Naturally, we have some of the most
motivated people, performing at their
peak and performing consistently to
fulfill the potential of the business to the
fullest.

A simple
philosophy
to bring out
the best in
our people.
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Chairman’s Letter
Dear Shareholders,
It is my privilege to congratulate all of you for yet another robust performance of your Company during the period October
2009 to March, 2011.
This year we have changed our financial year from October-September to April-March. As a result, we have prepared
the report for the 12 months FY’10 (Oct’09-Sep’10), the extended 6 months period (Oct’10-Mar’11) and cumulative
18 months period (Oct’09-Mar’11) as prescribed by Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) letter no- SEC/
CFD/11:29/2009/794 dated September 14, 2010. Our ensuing financial years will now end on March 31 of the year
(April-March), going forward.
Your Company achieved strong financial results for FY’10 and extended period 6 months despite a very challenging
business environment. Input Cost Inflation has been a scourge of the industry in recent times. Despite this, your company
has continued its profitable growth journey through committed efforts in new product introductions, market expansion
and share gains. The growth in turnover was 32% & 37% during 12 months period ended September 2010 and 6 months
period ended March 2011 respectively accompanied by a Net Profit after Tax (NPAT) growth of 41% & 37% respectively
over the corresponding periods in the previous year.
Your company continued its strategic investment in both, its current brands, Parachute and Hair code, and in new
products such as Saffola Gold, Hair & Care, Parachute Advansed Cooling Oil. It also entered the skin care solutions
business through the launch of Kaya Skin Clinics. The results of these investments will manifest in terms of returns in
the future. Your Company will continue to focus on the primary building block of a creating a durable consumer franchise
that will eventually drive margins.
We are likely to face continuing cost inflation in our raw materials given the volatility in the international markets. The
board will work closely with Management to manage risks and ensure that the Company remains flexible and prepare
to overcome the multiple challenges in this inflationary scenario. Leveraging the Marico group’s resources, synergies
and brand equity, Marico Bangladesh will actively pursue opportunities to drive sustained, broad-based growth and to
enhance shareholder value across its businesses.
Marico continues to believe that strong corporate governance is essential to the sustainability of our businesses
and performance. We remain firmly committed to maintain high standards in corporate governance as part of our
accountability to all our stakeholders. Your Company’s growth story carries the promise of not only financial performance,
but of creating value for its stakeholders, primarily the consumer.
We achieved our objectives in a challenging environment with commitment, a sense of urgency and solid execution in
the market place. I am proud of our employees’ commitment, accomplishments and the financial results delivered, and
believe that we are well positioned to continue to grow in the future.
Last but not least, I wish to thank all directors, management, employees, partners, customers, and all stakeholders and
well-wishers for their unstinting support through this challenging period. I look forward to your continued support in the
years ahead.
Thank you.
Yours sincerely,

Harsh Mariwala
Chairman
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Key figures

Tk. 536 Cr.
Tk. 285 Cr.
Tk. 93 Cr.
Tk. 51 Cr.
Tk. 68 Cr.
Tk. 36 Cr.
Tk. 21.43
Tk. 11.34
Tk. 69.69
Tk. 78.18

TURNOVER
+32% Over Corresponding
12 months*

TURNOVER
+37% Over Corresponding
6 months**

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
+60% Over Corresponding
12 months

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
+54% Over Corresponding
6 months

NET PROFIT
+43% Over Corresponding
12 months

NET PROFIT
+37% Over Corresponding
6 months

EARNINGS PER SHARE
+30% Over Corresponding
12 months

EARNINGS PER SHARE
+37% Over Corresponding
6 months

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE
+40% Over at Corresponding
12 months balance sheet date

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE
+40% Over at Corresponding
6 months balance sheet date

* 12 months ended September 30, 2010

3

** 6 months ended March 31, 2011
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Five Years Performance
12 months

30-Sep-10

30-Sep-09

30-Sep-08

30-Sep-07

30-Sep-06

(Tk in Cr)

(Tk in Cr)

(Tk in Cr)

(Tk in Cr)

(Tk in Cr)

Particulars

Turnover

5

535.83

405.67

265.89

145.19

88.83

Profit from operations

75.60

49.50

41.31

21.58

12.20

EBIT

96.02

58.64

43.47

22.15

13.79

Net profit before taxation

92.63

57.95

42.87

20.58

11.09

Net profit after tax

67.51

47.09

26.73

19.70

10.24

marico
Values
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Management discussion and analysis is an integral part of understanding of financial results of the company. This has
been prepared following the requirements of Sec 184 of The Companies Act, 1994, SEC Notification, Listing Regulations
of Dhaka Stock Exchange (DSE) and Chittagong Stock Exchange (CSE). The reporting period of management discussion
and analysis is October’09 to March’11 for 18 months due to the change in the accounting year. It covers general
economic conditions in Bangladesh, overview of business operations, internal control systems, financial results and
other key developments during the reporting period.
Some statements in this discussion describing projections, estimates, expectations or outlook may be forward looking.
Actual results may however differ materially from those stated on account of various factors such as changes in
government regulations, tax regimes, economic developments, exchange rate and interest rate movements, impact of
competing products and their pricing, product demand and supply constraints.
FMCG Industry Structure and Development
Fast Moving Consumer Goods (FMCG) includes personal care, house hold care, packaged food and beverages, tobacco
etc. which are frequently purchased consumer products.
In Bangladesh, FMCG sector is one of the largest sectors in the economy which is currently growing at double digit
growth rate and is expected to maintain a high growth rate.
The FMCG market can be divided into two segments – urban and rural. The urban segment is characterized by high
penetration levels and high spending propensity of the urban resident. The rural economy is largely agrarian – directly
or indirectly dependent on agriculture as a means of livelihood – with relatively lower levels of penetration and a large
unorganized sector.
The FMCG Industry caters to the needs of the consumers located across the country - both in the key cities and in the rural
hinterland through a well developed and efficient supply chain model comprising C&F Agents, distributors, wholesellers
and retailers. With access to the rural economy gradually improving with investments in physical infrastructure, it
provides FMCG companies the potential to continue to grow their franchise of consumers.
With exposure provided through overseas travel and to a large extent through overseas media, consumers aspire to reach
a level of consumption similar to consumers in the developed economies even as they are cautious about extravagance
and over indulgence. This provides the FMCG companies with opportunities for growing the market.
Low capital requirements, simple manufacturing processes and sub-contracting of manufacturing activities are
characteristics of the Industry. As a result, several small local brands tend to compete with well established multinational
companies. FMCG companies have to continuously innovate and also advertise in order to build the equity of their brands
and create mass pull. Brand building, product innovation and product differentiation are critical to the growth of FMCG
companies.
Opportunities & Threats
Q

Demographic profile
The country has a population around 166.80 million*. This provides the FMCG companies with a large consumer
base. The median age continues to be in mid to late twenties. The youth of today is conscious of the importance
of being well groomed and looking good. With increasing focus on education and empowerment of women, their
lifestyle and propensity to consume is undergoing a change; they are becoming more fashion conscious and open
to experimenting with new products.
* Source: Economist Intelligence Unit Forecast, April 2011
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Q

Urban economy
Rapid urbanization has resulted in large markets getting concentrated in urban centers. Increasing disposable
incomes and exposure to media have shaped aspirations of the urban consumer while consumerism has led to
satisfaction of wants. Availability of credit and changed mindset towards consumption has further fuelled the
demand for consumables. The high growth trajectory in the urban economy of the past few years has shown some
slowdown on account of the global economic crisis, particularly for discretionary spending. However, the impact
has been muted for items of daily consumption.

Q

Rise of the rural economy
The economic scenario in the country has undergone a change in the recent past. Nearly two-thirds of the
Bangladesh population resides in sub-urban and rural villages and mainly practices agriculture besides trading
activities. Facilities and government subsidies in inputs of agriculture, diversification from basic farming to fisheries,
poultry, live stocks, dairy and organized branded marketing of several of these items continues to boost the rural
economy. Rural Bangladesh now forms a sizeable share of the demand for FMCG products, consumer durables
and consumer discretionary products. Increased spending power of the rural people coupled with relatively lower
degree of penetration of branded FMCG products in these markets, have provided the Industry players with an
opportunity to drive growth. Established brands are tapping in to the rural economy to encourage up-trading by the
consumer from unbranded products to branded ones with assured quality and purity.

Q

Lifestyle and awareness
The present day consumer is savvy, has higher aspirations and is brand & lifestyle conscious. She does not mind
spending on quality products and seeks value for money spent. FMCG companies have recognized the opportunity
available by introducing “Value for Money” as well as “Premium” product variants aimed at catering to varying
needs of different consumers. Products aimed at delivering healthy lifestyle solutions have been introduced to woo
health conscious consumers.

Q

Branded solutions sector
The increase in the propensity to consume and the increasing consciousness for adopting healthy lifestyle
offerings have led to the development of branded solutions including leveraging of existing brand identities and
creating extensions around them. The quality conscious consumer is willing to pay premium for effective solutions,
improved services and a superior experience. The focus is to provide consumers with a holistic solution for their
needs in the form of a consolidated offering of various products and services.

Q

Impact of National Economy over Marico Business
GDP growth for the last 5 years reveals that the economy of Bangladesh has been growing at a steady rate of
5-6 percent. Moreover, growing disposable incomes and increased media exposure along with population growth
are ushering in a revolution in consumer behavior, shifting them from using unbranded low grade products to
FMCG products, presenting exciting growth opportunities for companies. Despite the global economic recession,
the growth in demand in the rural market especially in FMCG space is unabated. Bangladesh finds place in the
Goldman Sachs N11 (Next 11) list of economies with high potential. In Bangladesh the per capita consumption
for the FMCG product is amongst the lowest in the world presenting ample growth opportunity for the FMCG
sector.

Risks & Concerns
Q

11

Input Costs
Commodity prices are often linked to international indices and volatility in these benchmarks causes fluctuations
in the product prices. The past 2-3 years have witnessed wide fluctuations in the price of commodities. Crude Oil
touched a record high of USD 140 per barrel in FY09 before crashing to below USD 50 per barrel in FY10 and then
again breaching USD 100 per barrel during the second half of FY11. Volatility was consequently experienced in
other commodities such as crude derivatives like liquid paraffin and high density polyethylene (HDPE) as well as
edible oils. Input costs comprise nearly 60% of the production costs in the FMCG sector. Inflationary tendencies
in the economy directly impact the input costs and could create a strain on the operating margins of the FMCG
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companies. Brands with greater equity may find it easier to adjust prices in line with fluctuating commodity prices
and input costs.
Q

Competition
The FMCG environment in Bangladesh is dominated by a few large MNCs. Growing entrepreneurship among local
operators is seeing newer entrants thereby making the market competitive. Therefore, focus on branding, product
differentiation, distribution and innovation is of higher importance, to build a loyal consumer franchise.

Q

Product innovation and new product launches
Success rate for new product launches in the FMCG sector is low. Superior consumer understanding and
differentiated propositions are major priorities that the sector needs to focus on in order to minimize the risk and
cost involved in such initiatives. Marico group has adopted the prototyping approach to new product introductions
that helps maintain a healthy pipeline and at the same time limits the downside risks.

Q

Discretionary spending / Down trading
In situations of economic duress, items which are in the nature of discretionary spending are the first to be curtailed.
This is relevant for the lifestyle solutions offered by companies. In an extended recession, down trading from
branded products to non-branded ones could also occur and affect the financial performance of the company.

Q

Regulatory Risk
Changes in Tax, customs duty (CD), Supplementary Duty (SD) and VAT laws and rates in Bangladesh is common
in nature which makes a company’s business plan unviable and put pressure on management in achieving their
desire goals. Any upward revisions and especially sudden, unpredictable changes could adversely impact results
of operations and profitability of the company.

Internal control systems and their adequacy
Marico has a well established and comprehensive internal control structure across the value chain to ensure that all
assets are safeguarded and protected against loss from unauthorized use or disposition; that transactions are authorised,
recorded and reported correctly and that operations are conducted in an efficient and cost effective manner. The key
constituents of the internal control system are:
Q

Establishment and review of business plans

Q

Identification of key risks and opportunities

Q

Policies on operational and strategic risk management

Q

Clear and well defined organization structure and limits of financial authority

Q

Continuous identification of areas requiring strengthening of internal controls

Q

Operating procedures to ensure the effective business process

Q

Systems of monitoring compliance with statutory regulations

Q

Well-defined principles and procedures for evaluation of new business proposals/capital expenditures

Q

A robust management information system

Q

A robust internal audit and review system

Marico has an Internal Audit function headed by a senior management team member. He coordinates and supervises all
internal control systems. We have two internal auditors- M/s Hossain Farhad & Co., a local Chartered Accountant Firm
that conducts audits throughout the year and M/s Aneja Associates, a Chartered Accountant Firm from India, who are
also the internal auditors of the parent company.
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Internal Audit is undertaken on a continuous basis covering areas across the value chain such as manufacturing
operations, sales and distribution, marketing, finance. Reports of the internal auditor are regularly reviewed by the
management and corrective actions are initiated to strengthen controls and enhance the effectiveness of the existing
systems.
The SAP suite of ERP (SAP R/3, SCM, and APO) provides a real time check on various transactions emanating from
various business processes of the company. Marico-Net, the web-enabled architecture that links Marico to its biggest
business associates, namely its distributors, also helps the company exercise similar controls over its sales system.
Human Resources & Development
Marico is a professionally managed organization that has built for itself a stimulating work culture that empowers
people, promotes team building and encourages new ideas.
The organization believes that great people deliver great results and lays the foundation for profitable sustainable
growth. The organization lays emphasis on recruiting right talent not only for the present but also with an emphasis on
managing the future.
The Company has recently started its campus recruitment program. The focus is to recruit the best talent from the
premier institutes of the country. The organization believes in grooming talent by providing challenge and early
responsibility at work. A strong business linkage of all Human Resource processes and initiatives is maintained at
Marico. The organization has created a favorable work environment that motivates performance. Marico has a process of
performance enhancement through deployment of MBR (Management By Results) to create an environment of challenge
and stretch. It is also linked to a variable element of performance based compensation.
The organization believes in investing in people to develop and expand their capability. Marico’s strategies are based,
inter alia, on processes of continuous learning and improvement. Personal development plans focus upon how each
individual’s strength can be best leveraged so as to help each one to deliver to his/her full potential. External training
programs and cross functional exposure provides the extra edge.
Marico has formulated a contemporary set of values and it is important that all members in the organization are not only
aware but also consciously practice and “walk the talk” on all its values. To build this consciousness and commitment,
Value Workshops are held for teams to identify their focus areas and plan actions accordingly.
Marico Growth Story
Marico achieved a turnover of Tk. 536 crore during the 12 months period ended September 30, 2010, a growth of 32%
over the corresponding period. For the extended six months ending March 31, 2011, the turnover was Tk 285 crore a
growth of 37% versus the comparable period in the previous year. The value growth was higher owing to inflation in
some of the company’s key input materials, only a part of which the company chose to pass on to the consumer in order
to protect its consumer franchise. The Company has maintained a high paced growth. Over the last five years (period
ended September 30 2010), it has recorded a Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) of 56.72%.
Profit after Tax (PAT) for the 12 months period ended September 30, 2010 was Tk. 67.51 crore, a growth of 43% over
period ending September 30, 2009. CAGR of PAT for the last 5 years was 60.25%. In addition, the company achieved
PAT Tk. 35.73 crore during the 6 month period ending March 31, 2011, a growth of 37% over the same period in the
previous year.
Few Brands Stories
Parachute Coconut Oil
Parachute, Marico’s flagship brand, continued to expand its franchise during the year. Parachute
coconut oil, the major part of its portfolio, grew by over 41% in volume for 12 months (Oct’09 to
Sep’10) period as compared to corresponding period and 19% in volume for 6 months (Oct’10 to
Mar’11) over the same period in the previous year.

13

Annual Report

Marico Bangladesh Limited

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

The year experienced an increase in copra (dried coconut kernel - the raw material input for coconut oil) prices particularly
from July, 2010, after a year of steady prices in the previous year.
Hair Code
Hair Code Herbal Hair Dye was launched in Bangladesh in 2008. Available in 6g sachet packs, Hair
Code is the pioneer in the segment of herbal hair dye in Bangladesh. It covers grey hair naturally,
giving a smarter, younger and more confident look.
During the year, Marico’s Hair Code herbal hair dye recorded healthy growth both in volume and
value as compared to the corresponding period in the previous year. The market share as a whole
was 27% on March, 2011 at the end of the reporting period.
In the longer term, Hair Code would like to establish itself as a leading men’s hair care brand. It has commenced its journey
in the hair dye space and plans to have a basket of offerings that provides good hair care options over time. During last
year, Hair Code Herbal Hair Color, was launched across Hair Code’s key markets, the brand has been supported with
insightful advertising and salon activation programs. The performance has been in line with expectations.
Saffola
Marico’s wellness brand, Saffola started its journey in Bangladesh in April, 2010 with Saffola Gold,
edible oil. It is a unique blend of Rice Bran Oil and Safflower Oil, which helps manage Cholesterol when
accompanied with a healthy lifestyle.
The brand positions itself on the “good for the heart” platform and rides the trend of increasing
concern around health and heart health in Bangladesh. With the increasing awareness about health
and a healthy lifestyle, Saffola has been able to steadily increase its household base.
Currently, your company imports the product and markets it in all metro cities of the country. The brand has gained
attention from consumers using a strategic mix of promotions and price reductions during the year to generate trials.
This was supported by a media campaign and other marketing efforts. It will take a few years’ time to establish its
position significantly in its category. The company will maintain a 360 degree campaign approach to increase the
consumer base of Saffola as the brand has a high retention rate.
Hair Oils
Parachute Advansed hair oil stands for healthy and gorgeous hair.
Parachute Beliphool perfumed coconut hair oil which when massaged
into the hair and scalp helps result in hair that is full of life. Also its
non-sticky property helps attractiveness to the younger generation. Hair
& Care nourishing non-sticky hair oil is meant for the younger generation
who wants to experience the goodness of hair oil in modern fashion. With escalating need of modern women to quickly
manage their hair, there has been an opportunity to serve consumers looking for value added options to their hair oiling
needs. Marico has a vision of obtaining superiority in the VAHO segment (Value Added Hair Oil). Though at present it has
single digit market share in this category, it is expected to grow in the coming days with strong focus and both marketing
and sales support.
Recently, to strengthen its position in the VAHO segment, Marico launched Parachute Advansed Cooling Hair Oil. This is a
coconut oil enriched with 21 ayurvedic herbs that helps in maintaining hair health in addition to keeping the head cool.
Initial response from consumer is promising for the brand.
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Soap Brands
“Camelia” & “Aromatic” soap brands were acquired in 2005 & 2006
respectively. The company had re-launched “Aromatic” re-branding
it as “Aromatic Gold” and achieved distribution gains that helped the
company’s overall portfolio. However, it later reprioritized its investments
to other brands in its portfolio as the soaps business was earning low
margins.
Kaya Skin Clinic
Kaya Skin Care Clinic is the first organized player in the segment of cosmetic dermatology and
has the opportunity to enjoy a first mover advantage in this segment in Bangladesh.
Marico Bangladesh Limited opened its first clinic in Dhaka in early February, 2010 at Gulshan, Bangladesh. Having
received a good response, the company has opened a second clinic at Dhanmondi. Kaya’s offering are in the nature of
discretionary spends.
The company’s overall experience with Kaya Skin Care business has been encouraging. This is a fairly young business.
Marico’s belief in the Kaya business model is therefore intact, especially as it perceives the long term opportunity in skin
care solutions to be significant.
Distribution
Distribution facilities and timely reach of products to consumers are amongst the key strengths of a FMCG company.
Marico has built a strong distribution infrastructure. It has four depots are located at Gazipur, Chittagong, Jessore and
Bogra servicing its distribution network throughout the country both in rural and urban areas. Marico has distribution
business partners that ensure adequate and efficient coverage of retail stores across the country. Their operations are
supported and supervised by Marico’s own sales professionals including RSM (Regional Sales Manager), ASM (Area
Sales Manager) and TSM (Territory Sales Manager).
Capacity Building
Investments were made in building up capacity. We have added around 15,000 sft of floor space next to our Gazipur
factory to augment the capacity. New land has been purchased to expand its production facilities for current products as
well as future products. Augmentation of capacity has been necessitated by increase in demand.
Quality Assurance
Marico Bangladesh achieved MMEM (Marico Manufacturing Excellence Model) Certification post audit from the Global
Corporate Quality Assurance team. These Quality System facilitate the manufacturing locations to produce consistent
quality products day in and day out. They also ensure that there is specific focus on continual improvement of processes,
systems and procedures. Marico cleaned the ISO 9001 sustenance audit with flying colors post the certification obtained
in 2009. Marico emphasises special focus on Safety & Environment at the manufacturing locations as well as at their
vicinity. In regard to this Marico will go for ISO 14001 & ISO 18001 certifications in this financial year.
Technology in Marico
The entire sales commercial, factory commercial, finance operation runs through SAP based integrated ERP system. Use
of this software package makes it possible to track and manage, in real-time, sales, production, finance & accounting
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in an enterprise. eVAT is another milestone initiative that saves paperwork and time. VAT is processed at the factory
on eVAT software where all the transactions are recorded and processed. In some of the metro cities, the Distributor’s
Sales Men (DBSMs) carry Personal Digital Assistant (PDA), which makes the sales process much more efficient. PDA is
installed with software that makes the sales process easier for both retailers and DBSMs. The PDA has been customized
so that the medium of interface is in Bengali. Such a PDA assists the DBSMs in calling on all the brands, SKUs and aids
and checking for sufficiency of stock at the retail outlet.
Cost Structure of Marico Bangladesh Limited
12 months period ended

6 months period ended

Percentage to sales
Sep’ 2010

Sep’ 2009

Mar’ 2011

Mar’ 2010

Material Cost (Raw + Packaging)

67%

72%

71%

64%

Advertising & Sales Promotion (ASP)

9%

6%

6%

12%

Personnel Costs

3%

3%

3%

3%

Other Expenses

4%

6%

4%

4%

PBDIT Margins

21%

16%

20%

21%

Gross Margins (PBDIT before ASP)

30%

22%

27%

32%

Capital utilization for Marico Bangladesh
Over the years, Marico has maintained a healthy Return on Capital Employed (ROCE). Given below is a snapshot of
various capital efficiency ratios for Marico:
12 months period ended

6 months period ended*

Ratios
Sep’ 2010

Sep’ 2009

Mar’ 2011

Mar’ 2010

Return on Net worth

31%

30%

30%

30%

Return on Asset

22%

24%

17%

14%

Inventory Turnover (Days)

47

61

66

119

Net Working Capital Turnover (Days)

184

148

189

183

0.63%

0.17%

0.42%

0.18%

Working Capital Ratios

Finance Costs to Turnover (%)

*Annualized
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Share Holders Value
Q

Dividend Declared
At the Board of Directors meeting held on October 21, 2010 the Board of Directors had declared and paid interim
cash dividend @25% and recommended final cash dividend @20% on April 24, 2011. With this effect, the total
dividend for 18 months period is @45%.

Outlook
Q

Sustained volume and value growth in business

Q

Long term approach of margin protection in an inflationary scenario

Q

Continued investments in creating growth engines for the future

The company expects to sustain overall volume growth and to improve value growth.

On Behalf of the Board of Directors

Harsh Mariwala
Chairman
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Managing Director
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Corporate Governance Report
Marico believes that Corporate Governance is not an end in itself but is a catalyst in the process towards maximization
of shareholder value. Therefore, shareholder value as an objective is woven into all aspects of Corporate Governance
– the underlying philosophy, development of roles, creation of structures and continuous compliance with standard
practices.
This report on Corporate Governance is divided into the following parts:

Compliance with SEC Corporate Governance Guideline Notification
MBL follows Securities & Exchange Commission Corporate Governance guideline issued on February 20, 2006 vide
notification no-SEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/Admin/02-08.
Board of Directors:
MBL’s Board of Directors consists of 7 (seven) members including the Managing Director. Among the members, two
are non-shareholding non-executive independent directors. The Managing Director sits as a member of the Board of
Directors.
Chief Financial Officer, Head of Internal Audit and Company Secretary:
The Board of Directors has engaged Mr. Souvik B. Mazumdar as Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Balaji K.S. as Head of Internal
Audit and Mr. Iqbal Chowdhury as Company Secretary of the company.
Audit Committee:
The Board of Directors has constituted an Audit Committee as a sub-committee of the Board. There are 3 (three)
members to the committee ( excluding the Company Secretary).
External/Statutory Auditors:
M/s. Rahman Rahman Huq is acting as statutory auditors. They are not involved with any other services of the
company.
Status of Compliance with Securities and Exchange Commission’s Notification No. SEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/Admin/0208 dated 20th February, 2006 The checklist are attached hereunder:-
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SEC Compliance Status

Condition
No.

21

Title

Compliance
Status

1.1

Board's Size: Board members should not be less than 5 (five) or more than 20 (twenty)

Complied

1.2 (i)

Independent Director: At least 1/10th

Complied

1.2 (ii)

Appointment of Independent Director by Elected Directors

Complied

1.3

Individual Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Office, with defined roles
and responsibilities

Complied

1.4

The Directors to report shareholder on:

1.4 (a)

Fairness of Financial Statements

Complied

1.4 (b)

Maintenance of proper Books of Accounts

Complied

1.4 (c)

Adaptation of proper accounting policies and estimates

Complied

1.4 (d)

Compliance with International Accounting Standard

Complied

1.4 (e)

Soundness on Internal Control Systems

Complied

1.4 (f)

Ability to continue as a Going Concern

Complied

1.4 (g)

Significant deviation from last year

Complied

1.4 (h)

Presentation of last three years data

Complied

1.4 (i)

Declaration of Dividend

Complied

1.4 (j)

Details of Board Meetings

Complied

1.4 (k)

Shareholding Pattern

Complied

2.1

Appointment of CFO, Head of Internal Audit, and Company Secretary and
defining their roles and responsibilities

Complied

2.2

Attendance of CFO and the Company Secretary at Board of directors Meeting

Complied

3

Audit Committee

3.1 (i)

Constitution of Committee

Complied

3.1 (ii)

Constitution of Committee with Board Members including one Independent
Member

Complied

3.1 (iii)

Filling of Casual Vacancy in Committee

Complied

3.2 (i)

Chairman of the Committee

Complied

3.2 (ii)

Professional qualification and experience of the Chairman of the Committee

Complied

3.3.1 (i)

Reporting to the Board of Directors

Complied

3.3.1 (ii) (a)

Reporting of Conflict of Interest to the Board of Directors

3.3.1 (ii) (b)

Reporting of any fraud or irregularity to the Board of directors

3.3.1 (ii) (c)

Reporting of violation of laws to the Board of Directors

N/A

3.3.1(ii) (d)

Reporting of any other matter to the Board of Director

N/A

3.3.2

Reporting of qualified points to Commission

N/A

3.4

Reporting to the Shareholders and General Investors

4.0

External/Statutory Auditors

4.00 (i)

Non-engagement in appraisal or valuation

4.00 (ii)

Non-engagement in designing of Financial Information System

Complied

4.00 (iii)

Non-engagement in Book-Keeping

Complied

4.00 (iv)

Non-engagement in Broker-Dealer Service

Complied

4.00 (v)

Non-engagement in Actuarial Services

Complied

4.00 (vi)

Non-engagement in Internal Audit

Complied

4.00 (vii)

Non-engagement in any other services

Complied

N/A
Complied

Complied
Complied

Explanation for
Non Compliance
with the Condition
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II. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(i) Composition and Categories of Directors:Name

Category

Mr. Harsh Mariwala

Chairman

Mr. Milind Sarwate

Director

Mr. Vijay Subramaniam

Director

Mr. Debashish Neogi

Director

Mr. Rohit Jaiswal

Managing Director

Mrs. Rupali Chowdhury

Independent Director

Mr. Ghulam Mostafa

Independent Director

(ii) Attendance of each Director at the Board meetings:
Eight meetings of the Board of Directors were held during the reporting period.
The attendance record of all directors is as under:No. of Board Meetings
Names of Directors

Held

Attendance

1. Mr. Harsh Mariwala

9

1

2. Mr. Milind Sarwate

9

1

3. Mr. Vijay Subramaniam

9

8

4. Mr. Debashish Neogi

9

5

5. Mr. Kunal Gupta*

5

5

6. Mr. Rishi Pardal*

3

3

7. Mr. Rohit Jaiswal

2

2

8. Mrs. Rupali Chowdhury

7

7

9. Mr. Ghulam Mostafa

7

5

*Mr. Kunal Gupta and Mr. Rishi Pardal resigned from board of directors on July 20, 2010 and October 21, 2010 respectively.

III. AUDIT COMMITTEE
Constitution:
The Audit Committee was constituted by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on November 26, 2009, in accordance
with Securities and Exchange Commission, Corporate Governance Guideline vide notification no-SEC/CMRRCD/2006158/Admin/02-08 dated February 20, 2006. The Audit Committee was last re-constituted by the Board of Directors on
March 22, 2010.
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The Audit Committee now comprises the following Members:
Mrs. Rupali Chowdhury
Mr. Vijay Subramaniam
Mr. Debashish Neogi
Mr. Iqbal Chowdhury

Chairman
Member
Member
Secretary to the committee

The Audit Committee reports to the Board of Directors. It usually notifies Board of Directors along with oversight of
the Company’s financial reporting process and the disclosure of its financial information to ensure that the financial
statement is correct, sufficient and credible.
Moreover, M/s Hossain Farhad & Co., a local Chartered Accountant Firm that conducts audits throughout the year and
M/s Aneja Associates, a Chartered Accountant Firm from India reports to the audit committee which is undertaken on
a continuous basis covering areas across the value chain such as manufacturing operations, sales and distribution,
marketing and finance.
The Committee had 1 meeting during the period:
No. of Board Meetings
Names of Directors

Held

Attendance

1. Mrs. Rupali Chowdhury

1

1

2. Mr. Vijay Subramaniam

1

1

3. Mr. Debashish Neogi

1

0

VI. GENERAL BODY MEETINGS
Annual General Meetings
YEAR

2009-2010

VENUE

Mouchak, Kaliakoir, Gazipur, Company’s Factory
Premises

DATE

TIME

January 19, 2010

11:00 AM

There was no Special Resolution passed at last General Meeting.
VI. MEANS OF COMMUNICATION
Price sensitive information, quarterly, half-yearly and annual results of Marico Bangladesh Limited are published in
two daily newspapers- one English and another in Bengali newspaper. All official financial results and price sensitive
information are communicated by the Company through its corporate website - www.maricobd.com. The Management
Discussion and Analysis Report forms as a part of the Annual Report.
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VII. GENERAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
Details of Directors seeking reappointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting:
Mr. Vijay Subramaniam
Vijay Subramaniam heads the International Business Group at Marico Limited and is responsible for the growth and
development of the overseas FMCG business.
Vijay brings with him an enriched career in Marketing and Sales spanning over two decades. Prior to Marico, Vijay was
designated the Head of Marketing at Henkel India Limited, for their laundry and homecare division. From 1999 till 2003,
he was associated with Pepsi as its Vice President – Marketing. Vijay began his career with United Breweries and went
on to become their All India Marketing Manager.
Vijay Subramanian holds a MMS degree from Jamnalal Bajaj Institute of Management Studies and a Bachelor’s degree
in Engineering from University of Madras.
Mr. Debashish Neogi
Mr. Debashish Neogi is a Chartered Accountant and Cost Accountant; Debashish earned a B.Com (Hons.) from St.Xavier’s
College, Kolkata, India in 1991. He subsequently completed his professional education, which included a Diploma in
business finance between 1994-97.
He previously held the position as Managing Director of Marico Bangladesh Limited. Mr. Debashish Neogi, 40, is currently
Executive Vice President and Regional Head of Marico – Middle East and North Africa. Debashish brings with him years
of experience – primarily in the consumer product industry, spanning organizations such as Polar, Perfetti, Becton &
Dickinson and Marico.
Details of Managing Director seeking confirmation of appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting:
Mr. Rohit Jaiswal
Mr. Rohit Jaiswal is a commerce graduate (a University topper & Gold Medalist) and holds his management degree
from The Indian Institute of Management – Bangalore. He has vast experience in customer management and marketing
across portfolios in Marico and earlier in Colgate Palmolive (India) Limited.
Rohit joined Marico in 2006 and has successfully accomplished his previous assignments with Marico India Limited, as
Head – Modern Trade & Rural Marketing; Head – West Division & Head – Trade Marketing & Channel Development. Prior
to joining Marico, he has worked with Colgate Palmolive (India) Limited in various positions & across geographies, last
position in Colgate being in the capacity of Regional Manager for Mumbai Region. Rohit brings with him years of rich
experience in the consumer goods industry with specialization in Trade Marketing & Customer Management.
Mr. Rohit Jaiswal has been appointed as Managing Director by Board of Directors on October 21, 2010.
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Details of AGM :
AGM–Date, time and Venue

:

10.30 a.m. Tuesday, June 28, 2011
Golf Garden, Army Golf Club, Airport Road
Dhaka, Bangladesh.

Financial Year

:

October 01, 2009 - March 31, 2011

Record Date

:

Sunday, May 8, 2011

Dividend Paid & Recommended

:

Interim Cash Dividend @25% on Face Value
Final Cash Dividend @20% on Face Value
Total @45% Cash Dividend for the reporting period of 18 months

Dividend Payment Date

:

Paid within 30 days from decision of board meeting held on October 21, 2010

Listing on Stock Exchanges

:

Dhaka Stock Exchange Limited (DSE),
Chittagong Stock Exchange Limited (CSE)

Listing fees upto December 31, 2011 has been paid.
Stock /Scrip Code

:

DSE – MARICO
CSE – MARICO

ISIN number

:

BD0481MRICO6

Category

:

Pharmaceuticals & Chemicals

Investors’ enquiry

:

+88(02)8931202, Ext-100, 102
info@maricobangladesh.net
www.maricobd.com
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Stock Price Information and Stock Performance
Quarterly Stock Price
Our common stock is traded on the Dhaka Stock Exchange and Chittagong Stock Exchange under the symbol MARICO.
The high and low common stock prices per share in Taka were as follows:
Quarter Ended

December 31

March 31

June 30

September 30

October 01, 2009 –September 30, 2010
High

523.00

530.00

452.90

700.00

Low

330.00

390.00

376.00

402.70

October 01-March 31, 2011 (Six Months)
High

768.90

665.00

N/A

N/A

Low

600.00

432.00

N/A

N/A

Script Performance in comparison to DGEN

Securities Transactions Insider Trading Policy
The Company has a formal Insider Trading Policy and Disclosure of Dealings in Securities Policy on dealings in the
securities of the Company, which sets out the implications of insider trading and guidance on such dealings. The policy
has been distributed to the directors and officers. In compliance with SEC (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Rules, 1995
& relevant notifications on best practices on dealing in securities, the Company issues circulars to its Directors and
officers informing that the Company and its officers must not deal in listed securities of the Company two month before
the release of the full-year results and before closing day of quarterly financial statements to the day of board meeting
to be held and before the release of quarterly results, and if they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information.
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Pattern of Shareholding on Record Date-May 08, 2011
Particulars

No of Shares

Percentage

28,349,993

90.00%

Parent Company:
Marico Limited
Other Related Parties:
Board of Directors:
Hash Mariwala, Chairman

1

Milind Sarwate, Director

1

Vijay Subramaniam, Director

1

Debashish Neogi, Director

1

Rohit Jaiswal, Managing Director

1

Souvik B. Mazumdar, CFO and Spouse and Minor Children:

-

Balaji K.S. Head of Internal Audit and Spouse and Minor Children:

1

Iqbal Chowdhury, CS and Spouse and Minor Children:

7,250

Executives (Top 5 Salaried Person Other than MD, CFO, HIA, CS):
Ashikur Rahman

-

Subir De

-

Tuhin Ahmed Chowdhury

2,700

Moin Uddin Ahmed Khan

6,050

Shahid Hossain

5,000

Percentage of Shareholding-Marico Bangladesh Limited
Category

No of Shares

Percentage

Marico Limited

28,350,000

90.00%

Institutions

2,251.850

7.15%

Individuals

898,150

2.85%

31,500,000

100%

Total
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To the Members
Your Board of Directors (“Board”) is pleased to present
the Eleventh Annual Report of your company, Marico
Bangladesh Limited for the period ended March 31, 2011
(‘the period under review’, ‘the reporting period’, or ‘twelve
months and extended six months’).
This report is prepared in compliance with section 184
of the Companies Act 1994 and Securities & Exchange
Commission Order no-SEC/CMRRCD/2006-158/Admin/0208 dated February 20, 2006.

2009 to March 2011 (18 months) for the reporting period
and has subsequently commenced the new accounting
year from April 1, 2011 onwards for 12 months each.
These changes are done with prior approval from relevant
regulators (annexed) i.e. the Deputy Commissioner of Taxes
(Ref. letter no. 072-201-1174/Co-9/2009-2010 dated
June 2, 2010), The Registrar of Joint Stock Companies
and Firms of Bangladesh (RJSC) (Ref. letter no. RJSCO2763 dated July 14, 2010), and Securities & Exchange
Commission (SEC) (Ref. letter SEC/CFD/11:29/2009/794
dated September 14, 2010).
Establishment of New Plant

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company continued to be
manufacturing and marketing of Fast Moving Consumer
Goods (‘FMCG’). The company is the manufacturer and
marketer of well known brands like Parachute, Parachute
Advansed, Parachute Beliphool, Aromatic, Camelia, Saffola,
Haircode, Parachute Advansed, Kaya Skin Care Clinic etc.
New product launches and development
Your company has launched series of products like
Haircode hair dye, Haircode hair color, Marico’s Hair &
Care perfumed non-sticky hair oil, Saffola Gold Blended
Vegetable Oil, Parachute Advansed Cooling Oil etc. in the
reporting period.

Owing to the growing demand, your company has decided
to set up another manufacturing plant to cater to the
growing demand, to smoothen supply on time and to
manufacture future products.
Your company has already purchased a land admeasuring
5.155 acre at Gazipur Sadar, Mohona, Bobanipur for the
new plant.
Corporate Social Responsibility
Q

Signing of MOU with BARI (Bangladesh
Agricultural Research Institute)
As a part of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR),
your company has associated itself with BARI
(Bangladesh Agricultural Research Institute) by
signing MOU in February, 2010 to help/educate
farmers in Copra (basic raw material for coconut oil).
We remain committed to helping farmers achieve
fulfilling lives and recognize the interdependence of
our future growth with their development.

Q

Facilitating Training and Equipment to Farmers
for Copra Production
Marico has started to help poor farmers to develop
copra production. The company facilitated them
through training and providing machineries,
consultancy for producing which aid to bring their
daily earnings.

Q

Saffola Gold Free Health Camp
Marico Bangladesh Limited organized a day long
free health camp to serve the general public on
September 25, 2010 under banner Saffola Gold. A
good number of people participated in the free health
camp. Moreover, Saffola 3 day free mobile health

These new products have turned in a satisfactory
performance and show potential for future growth.
Launch of 2nd Kaya Skin Care Clinic at Dhanmondi
Encouraged by the response to the first clinic, your
company has launched its second Kaya Skin Care Clinic
at Dhanmondi, Dhaka to meet its customers’ service
demand.
Change of Accounting Year from October-September
to April-March and extension of time for holding AGM
Until the last annual report, financial statements were
prepared on the basis of accounting year for twelve
months from October 1 to September 30 and year ended
September 30, 2009. The board has approved a change in
the accounting year of the company to commence from
April 1 and end on March 31, so as to align it with the
accounting year of the holding company, Marico Limited.
Therefore, your company has consolidated financial
statements and annual report for the period from October

30

Marico Bangladesh Limited

Annual Report
Directors’ Report

camp posed as observing of World Hypertension Day
- 17th of May’10 in different area of Dhaka City.
Directors of the Company
Directors retiring by rotation
Mr. Vijay Subramaniam and Mr. Debashish Neogi, Directors
of the company, retire by rotation as per relevant provision
of the Companies Act, 1994 and relevant clause of Articles
of Association of the company and being eligible offer
themselves for re-appointment.
Changes in the Board of Directors
Mr. Kunal Gupta, Director and Mr. Rishi Pardal, Managing
Director resigned from the Board of Directors of the
company with effect from close of business hours on June
6, 2010 and on October 21, 2010 respectively. The Board
of Directors has accepted their resignation and would
like to place on record their sincere appreciation of the
valuable services rendered by Mr. Kunal Gupta and Mr.
Rishi Pardal.
Appointment of New Managing Director
The Board of Directors has appointed Mr. Rohit Jaiswal
as Managing Director with effect from October 23, 2010.
Hence, the Board of Directors has recommended Mr.
Rohit Jaiswal’s appointment as Managing Director for
confirmation at the meeting of the members (AGM) of the
company.

Director’s Responsibilities for Financial Statements
The Statement of the Director’s Responsibilities
and Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting for financial statements are given
on page 33 of this report to Directors’ Report Annexure-1
and 2.

Corporate and Financial Reporting Framework
In accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission’s
Notification
No./SEC/CMRCD/2006-158/Admin/02-08
dates February 20, 2006 the Directors are pleased to
conform the following:
(a) The financial statements together with the
notes thereof have been drawn up in conformity
with the Companies Act 1994 and Securities
and Exchange Rules 1987. These statements
present fairly the Company’s state of affairs, the
results of its operations cash flow and changes
in equity.
(b) Proper books of account of the Company have
been maintained.
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(c) Appropriate accounting policies have been
consistently applied in preparation of the
financial statements and the accounting
estimates are based on reasonable and prudent
judgment.
(d) International Accounting Standards, as
applicable in Bangladesh, have been followed in
preparation of the financial statements.
(e) The systems of internal controls are sound in
and have been effectively implemented and
monitored effectively.
(f) There are no significant doubts about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
(g) The significant deviations from last year in
operating results of the company have been
highlighted in the report and reasons thereof
have been explained.
(h) The key operating and financial data for the last
five years are annexed.

Corporate Governance Compliance Report
Marico Bangladesh Limited adheres to good Corporate
Governance principles, as described on pages 20 to 27.
The Company has also complied with all the requirements
of Corporate Governance as required by the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Accordingly, Corporate Governance
Compliance Report is shown in the SEC Compliance Status
on page-21 of this report.

Results of Operations
Twelve-Months Performance
12 months ended September 30
Tk in Cr, except per share amounts

Turnover

2009

2010

PERCENT
CHANGE

406

536

+32

47

68

+43

16.45

21.43

+30

Dividends per share

2.50

2.50

-

Operating cash flow

68

144

Return on assets

24%

22%

Return on equity

30%

31%

Net earnings
Net earnings per share
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Six-Month Performance

The total dividend including the proposed dividend @20%
would be Tk. 14.18 Crore.

Six months ended March 31
Taka in Cr, except per share amounts

Turnover

2010

PERCENT
CHANGE

2011

208

285

+37

26

36

+37

8.31

11.34

+36

Dividends per share

-

2

-

Operating cash flow

25

-70

Return on assets

14%

17%

Return on equity

30%

29%

Net earnings
Net earnings per share

Marico achieved growth in turnover, earnings and
earnings per share in the reporting period twelve months
ended September 30, 2010 and extended six months
period ended March 31, 2011. For twelve months and
extended six months period turnovers were Tk. 406
crore, an increase of 32 percent and Tk. 285 crore, an
increase of 37 percent; net profit after tax were Tk. 68
crore and Tk. 36 crore and earnings per share were Tk.
21.43 and Tk. 11.34 crore, increases of 30 percent and
36 percent, respectively, over the corresponding period
in the previous year. Turnover growths remained at high
levels accompanied by growing profits primarily being the
benefits derived from consistent investment in brands.
Financial Position
Marico’s total assets of Tk. 374 crore at 30 September 2010
were Tk. 120 crore or 47% higher than at 30 September
2009 and Tk. 461 at 31 March, 2011 crore were Tk. 173
crore or 60% higher than at March 31, 2010.
Dividend Distribution
Your company’s distribution of dividend to members of
the company during the reporting period comprised of the
following;
Interim dividend of 25% on the paid up capital of Tk. 31.50
Crore.
Final dividend recommended for approval at the ensuing
Annual General Meeting to be held on June 28, 2011
@20% on the paid-up capital Tk. 31.50 Crore.

Harsh Mariwala
Chairman

Contribution to National Exchequer
During the reporting period, your company paid Tk. 145
Crore (appx.) to the National Exchequer in the form of
Corporate Income Tax, Customs Duties, Supplementary
Duties, VAT and others.
Reserves
The total reserves of the company stood Tk. 188
Crore details of which are shown in the Statement of
Finance Position as accumulated profit to the financial
statements.
Events subsequent to the Balance Sheet
No events have occurred since the balance sheet date,
which would require adjustment or disclosure in the
financial statements.
Shareholder Information & Substantial Shareholders
The distribution of shareholding and market value of
shares is given on page 27.
Appointment of Auditors
The auditors, Messes Rahman Rahman Huq, Chartered
Accountants, will retire at the conclusion of the ensuing
Annual General Meeting and being eligible under Section
210 of the Companies Act, 1994 read with Securities and
Exchange Commission Order No. SEC /CFD-71/2001/
Admin/02/05 dated January 03, 2002, offer themselves
for reappointment with proposed Audit Fees of Tk.
3,45,000/-.
Acknowledgement
The members of the Board of Directors would like to take
this opportunity to express their heartfelt thanks to all
stakeholders such as employees, customers, consumers,
Banks and financial institutions, Regulatory bodies,
Auditors, SEC, DSE, CSE, CDBL, ISSL, Business Associates
and finally the shareholders for their immense support
and contribution towards the success of the Company.

Rohit Jaiswal
Managing Director
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Directors’ Report Annexure-1
Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Statements
The directors of the company are responsible for the integrity and accuracy of the financial statements. The board believes
that the financial statements for the twelve months ended on September 30, 2010 and extended six months ended on
March 31, 2011 have been prepared in conformity with Bangladesh Accounting Standard (BAS), BFRS/IFRS, Companies
Act, 1994, SEC guidelines, Stock Exchanges Listing Regulations appropriate in the circumstances. In preparing the
financial statements, management with the consultation of the board makes informed judgments and estimates where
necessary to reflect the expected effects of events and transactions that have not been completed.
The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures ensure that material information required to be disclosed is recorded,
processed, summarized and communicated to management and reported within the required time periods. In meeting its
responsibility for the reliability of the financial statements, management relies on a system of internal accounting control.
This system is designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and transactions are executed in
accordance with the management’s authorization and recorded properly to permit the preparation of financial statements
in accordance with BAS/BFRS/IFRS. The design of this system recognizes that errors or irregularities may occur and that
estimates and judgments are required to assess the relative cost and expected benefits of the controls.
Directors believe that the Company’s internal accounting controls provide reasonable assurance that errors or irregularities
that could be material to the financial statements are prevented or would be detected within a timely period. The Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors, which is composed solely of independent directors, is responsible for overseeing
the Company’s financial reporting process.
The Audit Committee meets with management and sees the report of the Company’s internal auditors periodically to
review the work of each and to monitor the discharge by each of its responsibilities. The independent auditors are engaged
to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements and on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Their opinions are based on procedures that they believe to be sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that
the financial statements contain no material errors and that the Company’s internal controls are effective.
On behalf of the board

Rohit Jaiswal
Managing Director

Directors’ Report Annexure-2
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting for the Company. With the participation of the Chief Financial Officer and Head of Internal Audit, management
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based on the framework and the
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework, issued by the Audit Committee.
Based on this evaluation, management has concluded that internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
March 31, 2011. The Company’s auditor, Rahman Rahman Huq, Chartered Accountants, statutory auditors enlisted with
The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Bangladesh (ICAB), has issued an audit report on the financial statements.

Souvik B. Mazumdar
Chief Financial Officer
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Auditors’ Report
to the Shareholder of
Marico Bangladesh Limited
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Marico Bangladesh Limited (“the Company”) which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011, and the related income statement, statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the eighteen months period
then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other relevant explanatory notes thereon.
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standards (BFRSs), and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with the Bangladesh Standards on Auditing (BSA). Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements prepared in accordance with the Bangladesh Accounting Standards (BASs)
and the Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standards (BFRSs), give a true and fair view of the financial position of
Marico Bangladesh Limited as at 31 March 2011 and the results of its financial performance and its cash flows for
the eighteen months period then ended and comply with the Companies Act 1994, the Securities and Exchange Rules
1987 and other applicable laws and regulations.
We also report that:
a)

we have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were
necessary for the purpose of our audit and made due verification thereof;

b)

in our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so far as it
appeared from our examination of those books;

c)

the statement of financial position and income statement dealt with by the report are in agreement with
the books of account; and

d)

the expenditure incurred were for the purpose of the Company’s business.

Dhaka, 24 April 2011
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Statement of financial position

Note
Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Assets under construction
Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets
Non-current assets
Inventories
Accrued interest
Investments
Advance income tax
Advances and deposits
Fixed deposits
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets
Total assets

31 March
2011
Taka

31 March
2010
Taka

30 September
2010
Taka

30 September
2009
Taka

4
5
6
7

229,012,579
6,651,734
42,664,437
278,328,750

288,034,881
11,266,759
2,196,993
301,498,633

242,529,710
8,959,247
29,959,740
281,448,697

270,961,064
65,000,000
12,610,744
609,231
349,181,039

8
9
10
11
12
13
14

1,180,798,733
34,175,260
29,619,846
315,292,151
238,238,535
2,270,000,000
266,612,848
4,334,737,373
4,613,066,123

709,912,844
52,647,281
12,596,946
133,567,146
34,735,757
1,565,318,522
73,103,511
2,581,882,007
2,883,380,640

347,755,606
40,304,110
40,752,823
202,932,329
68,071,366
2,652,015,300
106,741,120
3,458,572,654
3,740,021,351

634,534,352
48,406,023
100,000,000
86,021,442
41,474,311
1,037,340,522
238,727,660
2,186,504,310
2,535,685,349

15

315,000,000
252,000,000
17,022,900
1,878,574,427
2,462,597,327

315,000,000
252,000,000
1,186,695,739
1,753,695,739

315,000,000
252,000,000
28,155,877
1,600,067,407
2,195,223,284

315,000,000
252,000,000
1,003,704,896
1,570,704,896

16

8,896,857
8,896,857

8,088,052
8,088,052

8,088,052
8,088,052

7,112,927
7,112,927

17
18

775,256,101
390,026,651
5,056,327
614,689,532
225,082,968
123,087,996
8,372,364
2,141,571,939
2,150,468,796
4,613,066,123

224,329,040
469,213,283
442,500
239,275,393
99,932,428
66,421,582
21,982,623
1,121,596,849
1,129,684,901
2,883,380,640

189,627,813
436,540,120
2,000,000
448,224,604
328,179,028
97,089,004
35,049,446
1,536,710,015
1,544,798,067
3,740,021,351

77,179,123
275,044,834
193,000
168,272,288
341,116,260
70,682,949
25,379,072
957,867,526
964,980,453
2,535,685,349

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Reserves
Retained earnings
Total equity
Liabilities
Provision for gratuity
Non-current liabilities
Short term finance
Liability for expenses
Interest payable
Provision for income tax
Trade creditors
Payable to holding company
Other liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

19
20
21
22

The annexed notes 1 to 37 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Comparatives have been presented as advised by SEC through letter no. SEC/CFD/11:29/2009/794.

Company Secretary

Dhaka, 24 April 2011

Director

Managing Director
As per our annexed report of same date
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Income statement

for 12 months from

Extended 6 months from

Cumulative 18 months from

1 October 2009

1 October 2008

1 October 2010

1 October 2009

1 October 2009

1 October 2008

to 30 September

to 30 September

to 31 March

to 31 March

to 31 March

to 31 March

2010

2009

2011

2010

2011

2010

Note

Taka

Taka

Taka

Taka

Taka

Taka

Revenue

23

5,358,337,069

4,056,700,694

2,845,675,249

2,079,933,077

8,204,012,318

6,136,633,771

Cost of sales

24

(3,756,588,381)

(2,979,011,189)

(2,086,305,867)

(1,433,687,970)

(5,842,894,248)

(4,412,699,159)

1,601,748,688

1,077,689,505

759,369,382

646,245,107

2,361,118,070

1,723,934,612

Gross profit
Distribution expenses

25

(553,681,868)

(278,070,754)

(202,304,061)

(267,439,762)

(755,985,929)

(545,510,516)

Administration expenses

26

(292,110,577)

(304,647,653)

(168,615,383)

(126,495,300)

(460,725,960)

(431,142,953)

755,956,243

494,971,098

388,449,938

252,310,045

1,144,406,181

747,281,143

Profit from operation
Other income

27

204,244,342

91,395,512

134,572,959

83,129,738

338,817,301

174,525,250

Finance costs

28

(33,910,330)

(6,869,004)

(12,005,647)

(3,707,660)

(45,915,977)

(10,576,664)

926,290,255

579,497,606

511,017,250

331,732,123

1,437,307,505

911,229,729

29

(251,177,744)

(108,632,509)

(153,760,230)

(69,991,280)

(404,937,974)

(178,623,789)

675,112,511

470,865,097

357,257,020

261,740,843

1,032,369,531

732,605,940

21.43

16.45

11.34

8.31

32.77

27.99

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the period
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share

30

The annexed notes 1 to 37 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Comparatives have been presented as advised by SEC through letter no. SEC/CFD/11:29/2009/794.

Company Secretary

Director

Managing Director
As per our annexed report of same date

Dhaka, 24 April 2011
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2009
Taka

2010
Taka

703,268,388

Total comprehensive income for the period

470,865,097

Comparatives have been presented as advised by SEC through letter no. SEC/CFD/11:29/2009/794.

The annexed notes 1 to 37 form an integral part of these financial statements.

28,155,877

470,865,097

to 30 September

to 30 September

675,112,511

1 October 2008

1 October 2009

for 12 months from

sale financial assets

Change in the fair value of available-for-

Profit for the period

Statement of comprehensive income

Marico Bangladesh Limited

346,124,043

(11,132,977)

357,257,020

Taka

2011

to 31 March

1 October 2010

261,740,843

-

261,740,843

Taka

2010

to 31 March

1 October 2009

Extended 6 months from

1,049,392,431

17,022,900

1,032,369,531

Taka

2011

to 31 March

1 October 2009

732,605,940

-

732,605,940

Taka

2010

to 31 March

1 October 2008

Cumulative 18 months from
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Marico Bangladesh Limited
Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
Share
capital
Taka

Share
premium
Taka

Fair value
reserve
Taka

Proposed
dividend
Taka

Retained
earnings
Taka

Total
equity
Taka

12 months ended on 30 September 2010
Balance at 1 October 2008
Transferred to Share capital
Net profit for the period from 1
October 2008 to 30 September 2010
Dividend paid
Share premium
Balance at 30 September 2009
Net profit for the period from 1
October 2009 to 30 September 2011
Dividend paid
Comprehensive income
Balance at 30 September 2010

90,000,000

-

-

31,500,000

726,339,799

847,839,799

225,000,000

-

-

-

(193,500,000)

31,500,000

-

-

-

-

470,865,097

470,865,097

-

-

-

(31,500,000)

-

(31,500,000)

315,000,000

252,000,000
252,000,000

-

-

1,003,704,896

252,000,000
1,570,704,896

-

-

-

-

675,112,511

675,112,511

315,000,000

252,000,000

28,155,877
28,155,877

-

(78,750,000)
1,600,067,407

(78,750,000)
28,155,877
2,195,223,284

Extended 6 months from 1 October 2010 to 31 March 2011
Balance at 30 September 2009
Net profit for the period from 1
October 2009 to 31 March 2010
Dividend paid
Balance at 31 March 2010

315,000,000

252,000,000

-

-

1,003,704,896

1,570,704,896

-

-

-

-

261,740,843

261,740,843

315,000,000

252,000,000

-

-

(78,750,000)
1,186,695,739

(78,750,000)
1,753,695,739

Balance at 30 September 2010
Net profit for the period from 1
October 2010 to 31 March 2011
Dividend paid

315,000,000

252,000,000

28,155,877

-

1,600,067,407

2,195,223,284

-

-

-

-

357,257,020

357,257,020

315,000,000

252,000,000

(11,132,977)
17,022,900

-

(78,750,000)
1,878,574,427

(78,750,000)
(11,132,977)
2,462,597,327

Comprehensive income
Balance at 31 March 2011

Cumulative 18 months from 1 October 2009 to 31 March 2011
Balance at 1 October 2008
Transferred to Share capital
Net profit for the period from 1
October 2008 to 31 March 2010
Dividend paid
Proposed dividend

90,000,000

-

-

31,500,000

726,339,799

847,839,799

225,000,000

-

-

-

(193,500,000)

31,500,000

-

-

-

-

732,605,940

732,605,940

-

-

-

(31,500,000)

(78,750,000)

(110,250,000)
-

-

252,000,000

-

Balance at 31 March 2010

315,000,000

252,000,000

-

-

1,186,695,739

1,753,695,739

Balance at 30 September 2009
Net profit for the period from 1
October 2009 to 31 March 2011
Dividend paid

315,000,000

252,000,000

-

-

1,003,704,896

1,570,704,896

-

-

-

-

1,032,369,531

1,032,369,531

315,000,000

252,000,000

17,022,900
17,022,900

-

(157,500,000)
1,878,574,427

(157,500,000)
17,022,900
2,462,597,327

Share premium

Comprehensive income
Balance at 31 March 2011

Comparatives have been presented as advised by SEC through letter no. SEC/CFD/11:29/2009/794.
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Marico Bangladesh Limited
Statement of cash flows
for 12 months from
1 October 2009
to 30 September
2010
Taka

Extended 6 months from

1 October 2008
to 30 September
2009
Taka

Cumulative 18 months from

1 October 2010
to 31 March
2011
Taka

1 October 2009
to 31 March
2010
Taka

1 October 2009
to 31 March
2011
Taka

1 October 2008
to 31 March
2010
Taka

Cash flows from operating activities
Collection from customers

5,358,337,069

4,080,838,737

2,845,675,249

2,079,933,077

8,204,012,318

6,160,771,814

Payment to suppliers and
operating expenses
Interest paid

(4,006,387,372)
(32,103,330)

(3,283,774,413)
(6,676,004)

(3,553,694,330)
(8,949,320)

(1,858,687,950)
(3,458,160)

(7,560,081,701)
(41,052,650)

(5,233,735,459)
(10,134,164)

Interest received

212,346,255

51,841,611

140,701,810

78,888,480

353,048,064

130,730,092

Income tax paid

(117,486,824)

(160,190,630)

(112,359,821)

(48,121,641)

(229,846,645)

(208,312,271)

1,414,705,798

682,039,300

(688,626,412)

248,553,806

726,079,386

839,320,012

Net cash from/ (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of fixed assets

(53,119,304)

(71,906,162)

(40,395,448)

(42,002,926)

(93,514,752)

(22,635,994)

Encashment of zero coupon bond

100,000,000

-

-

-

100,000,000

-

Encashment of fixed deposits

4,099,664,372

895,833,850

2,034,030,500

1,482,022,000

6,133,694,872

2,377,855,850

Investment in equity share

-

-

-

(12,596,946)

-

(12,596,946)

Dividend received

-

-

1,617,175

-

1,617,175

-

(5,726,936,096)

(1,653,174,372)

(1,653,632,375)

(1,910,000,000)

(7,380,568,471)

(3,563,174,372)

(1,580,391,028)

(829,246,684)

341,619,852

(482,577,872)

(1,238,771,176)

(1,220,551,462)

Investment in fixed deposits
Net cash from / (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Share capital

-

31,500,000

-

-

-

31,500,000

Share Premium

-

252,000,000

-

-

-

252,000,000

Dividend paid

(78,750,000)

(31,500,000)

(78,750,000)

(78,750,000)

(157,500,000)

(110,250,000)

Short term finance

112,448,690

(30,766,667)

585,628,288

147,149,917

698,076,978

116,383,250

Net cash from financing activities

33,698,690

221,233,333

506,878,288

68,399,917

540,576,978

289,633,250

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

(131,986,540)

74,025,949

159,871,728

(165,624,149)

27,885,188

(91,598,200)

Opening cash and cash equivalents

238,727,660

164,701,711

106,741,120

238,727,660

238,727,660

164,701,711

Closing cash and cash equivalents

106,741,120

238,727,660

266,612,848

73,103,511

266,612,848

73,103,511

Comparatives have been presented as advised by SEC through letter no. SEC/CFD/11:29/2009/794.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.

Reporting entity
Marico Bangladesh Limited (MBL) was incorporated on 6 September 1999 in Bangladesh under the Companies
Act 1994 as a private company limited by shares. Subsequently, the Company converted to “Public Company”
limited by shares vide special resolution passed in the extra ordinary general meeting held on 21 September 2008.
The Company is a subsidiary of Marico Limited, India and also a listed entity enlisted with Dhaka Stock Exchange
Limited (DSE) and Chittagong Stock Exchange Limited.

1.1 Registered office
The address of the Company’s registered office is House # 01, Road # 01, Sector # 01, 4th floor, Uttara Model Town,
Dhaka-1230.
1.2 Authorized Capital
The authorized capital of the Company is Tk 400,000,000 divided into 40,000,000 number of ordinary shares of
Tk 10.00 each. The Company was registered with an authorized capital of Tk 10,000,000 divided into 1,000,000
number of ordinary shares of Tk 10.00 each. Subsequently, the authorized capital was increased to Tk 300,000,000
divided into 30,000,000 number of ordinary shares of Tk 10.00 each vide special resolution passed in the extra
ordinary general meeting held on 18 September 2008. The Company further increased its authorized capital to Tk
400,000,000 divided into 40,000,000 number of ordinary shares of Tk 10.00 each vide special resolution passed
in the extra ordinary general meeting held on 31 December 2008.
1.3 Nature of Business Activities
The Company is engaged in manufacturing and marketing of branded Fast Moving Consumer Goods under the
brand name of Parachute, Beliphool, Aromatic Gold, Camellia, Saffola Gold etc in Bangladesh. The Company sells
its products with its own managed depot from Chittagong, Bogra and Jessore. The Company started its commercial
operations from 30 January 2000.
2

Basis of preparation

2.1 Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standards
(BFRSs). BFRSs are comprised of:
i)
ii)
iii)

Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standards (BFRSs)
Bangladesh Accounting Standards (BASs)
Interpretations of BFRSs and BASs.

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors in the 67th Board meeting held on 24
April 2011.
2.2 Regulatory compliance
The Company is required to comply with amongst others, the following laws and regulations:
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i)
ii)
iii)

The Companies Act 1994
The Securities and Exchange Ordinance 1969
The Securities and Exchange Rules 1987

iv)

The Income Tax Ordinance 1984

v)

The Income Tax Rules 1984

vi)

The Value Added Tax (VAT) Act 1991

vii)

The Value Added Tax (VAT) Rules 1991

Marico Bangladesh Limited

2.3 Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except the following material
item:
Available for sale financial assets are stated at fair value through comprehensive income except as mentioned in
note 10.2.
2.4 Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Bangladesh Taka (BDT), which is the Company’s functional currency.
All financial information presented in BDT/Taka has been rounded off to the nearest integer.
2.5 Reporting period
Pursuant to the requirements of the letter No. SEC/CFD/11:29/2009/794 dated 14 September 2010 issued by
the Securities and Exchange Commission, Bangladesh, the company presented the financial statements for the
periods covered:
i)
ii)
iii)

Twelve months from 1 October 2009 to 30 September 2010;
Extended six months from 1 October 2010 to 31 March 2011; and
Eighteen months from 1 October 2009 to 31 March 2011.

The Company has changed its reporting period to keep alignment with its parent company.
2.6 Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amount of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
2.7 Going concern
The Company has adequate resources to continue in operation for foreseeable future and hence, the financial
statements have been prepared on going concern basis. As per management assessment there are no material
uncertainties related to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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2.8 Changes in accounting policies for financial instruments
As adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Bangladesh (ICAB) from 1 January 2010 the company
has applied Bangladesh Accounting Standard 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and Bangladesh Accounting
Standard 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in accounting for financial instruments and
Bangladesh Financial Reporting Standard 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures for presentation of Financial
Instruments. The changes in accounting policies have been applied retrospectively and had no material impact on
earnings per share for comprehensive income.
3

Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently (otherwise as stated) to all periods presented
in these financial statements.

3.1 Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency (BDT) at exchange rates at the dates of
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at reporting date are re-translated
into Bangladesh Taka at the exchange rates ruling at the statement of financial position date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, stated at historical cost, are translated into Bangladesh Taka
at the exchange rate ruling at the date of transaction. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are
recognized in profit or loss.
3.2 Property, plant and equipment
i)

Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.
Parts of an item of property, plant and equipment having different useful lives, are accounted for as separate
items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal with the property amount of the property, plant and equipment and is recognized with
other income/general and administrative expenses in profit or loss.

ii)

Subsequent cost
The cost of replacing component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will
flow to the company and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day to day servicing of property,
plant and equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

iii)

Depreciation
Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual
assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the reminder of that asset, that
component is depreciated separately.
Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on straight line method over the estimated useful lives of each
component of an item of property, plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated. Considering the estimated
useful lives of the assets the following rates have been applied in current and comparative years:
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Assets
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Depreciation rate

Plant and machinery

10-33%

Factory equipment

10-33%

Moulds

20-50%

Factory building

10-20%

Laboratory equipment

20-33%

Office equipment

20-50%

Vehicles

20-33%

Computers

20-33%

Furniture

20-33%

Fixtures

20-33%

Air conditioner, refrigerator

20-33%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual value are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.
Depreciation is charged from the month of acquisition of property, plant and equipment but no depreciation
is charged in the month of disposal.
3.3 Intangible assets
Intangible assets have finite useful lives and are stated at cost less accumulated amortization using straight line
method. Intangible assets are recognized in accordance with BAS-38. Intangible assets include cost of acquisition
of the intellectual property, copyright and other costs incidental to such capital expenditure.
Amortisation
Amortisation is recognized in the income statement on straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of
intangible assets from the date they are available for use. Assets are amortised over a period of six and a half
years commencing from 1 May 2005 for ‘Camellia’ and seven and a half years for ‘Aromatic’ commencing from
1 October 2005.
3.4 Impairment
3.4.1 Non-derivative financial assets
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss account is assessed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence
indicates that a loss event has occurred after initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.
Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired include restructuring of an
amount due to the Company on terms that the Company would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or
issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of the borrowers or issuers in the Company,
economic conditions that correlate with defaults or disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition,
for an investment in equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective
evidence of impairment.
Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities
The Company considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment
securities at both a specific asset and collective levels. All individually significant receivables and held-to-maturity
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investment securities are assessed for specific impairment. All individually significant loans and receivables and
held-to-maturity investment securities found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any
impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment
securities that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together loans
and receivables and held-to-maturity investment securities with similar risk characteristics.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset’s original
effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans
and receivables or held-to-maturity investment securities. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised.
When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in
the fair value reserve in equity, to profit or loss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss recognised previously in profit or loss. Changes in impairment provisions attributable
to application of the effective interest method are reflected as a component of interest income. If, in a subsequent
period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases and the increase can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, then the impairment
loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognised in profit or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in
the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised in comprehensive income.
3.4.2 Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than biological assets, investment property,
inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill, and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is
estimated each year at the same time. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its
related cash generated unit (CGU) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less cost to sell.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
assets or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of
the cash inflows of other assets or CGU.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then to reduce the
carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised
in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer
exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.
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3.5 Finance income and finance costs
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial assets),
dividend income, gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets. Interest income is recognised as it
accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the
date that the Company’s right to receive payment is established, which in the case of quoted securities is normally
the ex-dividend date.
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions and contingent
consideration, losses on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, dividends on preference shares classified
as liabilities, fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, impairment losses recognised
on financial assets (other than trade receivables).
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset
are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.
3.6 Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in
comprehensive income.
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years. Current tax payable also includes any tax liability arising from the declaration of dividends.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at
the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and
assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different
tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities
will be realised simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the
related tax benefit will be realised.
3.7 Revenue
(i)

Goods sold
Revenue from sale of goods is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net off
return and allowance, trade discount, volume rebates exclusive of VAT. Revenue is recognized when the
risk and reward of the ownership is transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable,
the associated cost and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, and there is no continuing
management involvement with the goods sold. Transfer of risk and rewards occurs for the sale of goods
when the product is delivered along with dispatch documents and invoiced to customers.
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Services
Revenue from services rendered recognised in the profit and loss on completion of the services performed.
The Company is involved in providing various skin care treatments under the name “Kaya Skin Clinic”. There
are two skin care clinics in Bangladesh.

3.8 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on weighted
average cost method, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion
costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured
inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal
operating capacity.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.
3.9 Provisions
A provision is recognized in the statement of financial position when the Company has a legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate thereof can be made.
3.10 Employee benefits
(i)

Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The
Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plan is calculated separately for each plan by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in current and
prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Any unrecognised past service costs
and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted.
The calculation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the
calculation results in a benefit to the Company, the recognised asset is limited to the total of any unrecognised
past service costs and the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds
from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. When the benefits of the plan are improved,
the portion of the increased benefit related to past service by employees is recognised in profit and loss on
a straight line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. To the extent that the benefits
vest immediately, the expense is recognised immediately in profit and loss.
The Company recognises all expenses and all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined plan in profit
and loss.

(ii)

Short term employee benefits
Short term employee benefit obligations are measured based on undiscounted basis and are expensed as
the related service is rendered. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term
cash bonus or profit sharing plans if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

3.11 Contingencies
Contingencies arising from claims, litigations, assessments, fines, penalties, etc. are recorded when it is probable
that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated.
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3.12 Earnings per share
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per share
is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted earnings per
share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares, which comprise convertible notes and share options granted to employees.
3.13 Events after the reporting period
Events after statement of financial position date that provide additional information about the company’s positions
at the statement of financial position date are reflected in the financial statements. Events after the statement of
financial position date that are non-adjusting events are disclosed in the notes when material.
3.14 Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in shares and Fixed Deposit Receipts (FDR), cash and
cash equivalents, advance from customers, trade creditors, share capital, and interest-bearing borrowings.
Investment in shares
Investment in share are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale. Initially they are
recognised at cost and subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other
than impairment losses and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale are recognised in comprehensive
income and presented in the fair value reserve in equity. When an investment is derecognised, the gain or loss
accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.
Investment in Fixed Deposit Receipts (FDR)
The company has the positive intent and ability to hold FDR to maturity, and as such financial assets are classified as
held to maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
Investment in Zero Coupon Bond
The company has the positive intent and ability to hold zero coupon bond to maturity, and as such financial
assets are classified as held to maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus
any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity financial assets are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Company’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose only of the statement of cash flows.
Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental cost directly attributable to the issue of ordinary share are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
Trade creditors
Trade creditors are recognised at fair value.
Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
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to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any impairment losses.
Advances from customers
Advances from customers are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
3.15 Financial risk management
The company management has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk
management framework. The company’s management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks
faced by the Company to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limit. Risk
management policies, procedures and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and
the company’s activities. The Company has exposure for measuring and managing risks from its use of financial
instruments which are as follows:
i)

Credit risk
Credit risk is risk of financial loss if a customer or counterpart to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations which arises principally from the Company’s receivables from customers.

ii)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial
asset. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.

iii)

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity
prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimising the return.
Market risk includes the followings:
Currency risk:
Transaction risk
Transaction risk arises from risk of adverse exchange rate movements occurring in the course of normal
international transaction.
Translation risk
Translation risk is the risk that the Company will make exchange losses when the accounting results are
translated into the home currency.
Economic risk
Economic risk refers to the effect of exchange rate movements on the international competitiveness of the
Company.
Interest rate risk:
Interest rate risk arises from movement in interest rates. The Company needs to manage interest rate risk
so as to be able to repay debts as they fall due and to minimise the risks surrounding interest payments and
receipts.
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Property, plant and equipment

4,184,066

12,902,537

4,669,572

56,550,264

Factory equipment

Moulds

Factory building

Office building

19,571,579

2,363,564

Furniture and fixtures

A/C, Refrigerator, water coolers

465,132,553

4,330,025

Computers

At 31 March 2011

9,902,964

Office equipments

548,000

20,865,690

Vehicles

Laboratory equipment

36,394,486

Taka

Taka

Freehold land

the year

2010

Cost

52,588,695

4,746,181

6,838,785

1,060,185

2,626,760

727,822

-

-

357,407

1,234,455

8,510,870

-

26,486,230

during

1 April

292,849,806

Addition

As at

Plant and machinery

Particulars

4.1. At 31 March 2011

4.

(3,498,252)

(32,950)

(109,790)

(257,000)

(66,800)

-

-

-

-

-

(2,931,712)

-

(100,000)

Taka

the year

during

Disposal

514,222,996

7,076,795

26,300,574

5,133,210

12,462,924

1,275,822

56,550,264

4,669,572

13,259,944

5,418,521

26,444,848

36,394,486

319,236,036

Taka

2011

31 March

As at

177,097,672

947,983

4,997,689

1,921,993

2,157,980

543,625

7,953,770

1,894,407

6,217,413

2,223,191

8,548,051

-

139,691,570

Taka

2010

1 April

As at

110,530,123

1,022,648

4,420,226

1,218,870

2,276,819

92,241

5,655,026

267,876

2,714,378

777,199

4,618,357

-

87,466,483

Taka

the period

for

Charged

(2,417,378)

(32,950)

(103,503)

(256,974)

(66,795)

-

-

-

-

-

(1,857,156)

-

(100,000)

Taka

the period

for

Adjustment

Accumulated depreciation

285,210,417

1,937,681

9,314,412

2,883,889

4,368,004

635,866

13,608,796

2,162,283

8,931,791

3,000,390

11,309,252

-

227,058,053

Taka

2011

31 March

As at

229,012,579

5,139,114

16,986,162

2,249,321

8,094,920

639,956

42,941,468

2,507,289

4,328,153

2,418,131

15,135,596

36,394,486

92,177,983

Taka

2011

31 March

As at

288,034,881

1,415,581

14,573,890

2,408,032

7,744,984

4,375

48,596,494

2,775,165

6,685,124

1,960,875

12,317,639

36,394,486

153,158,236

Taka

2010

30 March

As at

Written down value
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4,263,545

10,268,949

4,743,030

47,482,972

Factory equipment

Moulds

Factory building

Office building

15,428,585

1,979,558

Furniture and fixtures

A/C, Refrigerator, water coolers

345,329,164

4,859,059

Computers

At 31 March 2010

4,121,658

Office equipments

738,100

11,220,374

Vehicles

Laboratory equipment

36,394,486

Taka

Taka

Freehold land

the year

2009

139,464,866

855,006

6,801,297

1,495,300

7,532,982

-

9,067,292

-

5,691,734

2,179,455

12,621,623

-

(471,000)

(2,658,303)

(2,024,334)

(1,751,675)

(190,100)

-

(73,458)

(3,058,147)

(2,258,934)

(2,976,307)

-

(4,199,221)

Taka

the year

during

Disposal

(19,661,477)

Cost

93,220,177

during

1 April

203,828,849

Addition

As at

Plant and machinery

Particulars

4.2. At 31 March 2010

465,132,553

2,363,564

19,571,579

4,330,025

9,902,965

548,000

56,550,264

4,669,572

12,902,537

4,184,066

20,865,690

36,394,486

292,849,805

Taka

2010

31 March

As at

84,019,579

1,032,171

4,599,766

2,905,445

2,901,473

731,625

2,742,911

1,612,536

6,300,008

3,668,001

8,193,037

-

49,332,606

Taka

2009

1 April

As at

112,287,409

386,376

2,971,081

988,074

907,302

2,100

5,210,859

355,329

2,897,386

808,209

3,330,839

-

94,429,856

Taka

the period

for

Charged

(19,209,316)

(470,564)

(2,573,159)

(1,971,525)

(1,650,795)

(190,100)

-

(73,458)

(2,979,981)

(2,253,019)

(2,975,824)

-

(4,070,892)

Taka

the period

for

Adjustment

Accumulated depreciation

177,097,672

947,983

4,997,689

1,921,993

2,157,980

543,625

7,953,770

1,894,407

6,217,413

2,223,191

8,548,052

-

139,691,570

Taka

2010

31 March

As at

288,034,881

1,415,581

14,573,890

2,408,032

7,744,985

4,375

48,596,494

2,775,165

6,685,124

1,960,875

12,317,638

36,394,486

153,158,236

Taka

2010

31 March

As at

261,309,585

947,387

10,828,819

1,953,614

1,220,185

6,475

44,740,061

3,130,494

3,968,941

595,543

3,027,337

36,394,486

154,496,242

Taka

2009

31 March

As at

Written down value
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4,184,066

12,902,536

4,669,572

50,925,264

Factory equipment

Moulds

Factory building

Office building

13,639,377

1,508,556

Furniture and fixtures

A/C, Refrigerator, water coolers
118,119,079

986,508

6,251,987

1,652,665

7,151,732

-

5,625,000

-

-

985,311

9,774,845

-

Taka

the year

during

Disposal

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

476,248,929

2,495,064

19,891,364

4,632,190

9,919,664

548,000

56,550,264

4,669,572

12,902,536

5,169,377

23,611,940

36,394,486

299,464,472

Taka

2010

30 September

As at

87,168,786

743,876

3,533,775

1,427,803

2,061,391

542,575

5,145,745

1,718,579

4,505,246

1,828,953

6,621,322

-

59,039,521

Taka

2009

1 October

As at

146,550,433

459,437

3,418,522

1,072,387

1,055,457

2,100

5,635,538

313,574

3,090,393

762,582

4,143,810

-

126,596,633

Taka

the period

for

Charged

Taka

the period

for

Adjustment

Accumulated depreciation

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

As at

As at

233,719,219

1,203,313

6,952,297

2,500,190

3,116,848

544,675

10,781,283

2,032,153

7,595,639

2,591,535

10,765,132

-

185,636,154

Taka

2010

242,529,710

1,291,751

12,939,067

2,132,000

6,802,816

3,325

45,768,981

2,637,419

5,306,897

2,577,842

12,846,808

36,394,486

113,828,318

Taka

2010

270,961,064

764,680

10,105,602

1,551,722

706,541

5,425

45,779,519

2,950,993

8,397,290

2,355,113

7,215,773

36,394,486

154,733,920

Taka

2009

30 September 30 September 30 September

As at

Written down value

*Depreciation charged for the year on plant and machinery includes accelerated depreciation of Tk 65,000,000 for Mazoni Soap line which is expected to have no future use.

358,129,850

2,979,525

Computers

At 30 September 2010

2,767,932

Office equipments

548,000

13,837,095

Vehicles

Laboratory equipment

36,394,486

Taka

Taka

Free hold land

the year

2009

Cost

85,691,031

during

1 October

213,773,441

Addition

As at

Plant and machinery*

Particulars

4.3. At 30 September 2010
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4,050,199

10,038,949

4,743,030

31,116,725

Factory equipment

Moulds

Factory building

Office building

10,896,275

1,773,531

Furniture and fixtures

A/C, Refrigerator, water coolers

305,885,166

3,754,459

Computers

At 30 September 2009

4,027,319

Office equipments

738,100

11,220,374

Vehicles

Laboratory equipment

36,394,486

Taka

Taka

Free hold land

the year

2008

Cost

71,906,162

206,025

5,401,404

1,249,400

492,288

19,808,539

5,921,734

2,392,801

5,593,028

30,840,943

during

1 October

187,131,719

Addition

As at

Plant and machinery

Particulars

4.4. At 30 September 2009

19,661,478

471,000

2,658,303

2,024,334

1,751,675

190,100

-

73,458

3,058,147

2,258,934

2,976,307

-

4,199,221

Taka

the year

during

Disposal

358,129,850

1,508,556

13,639,376

2,979,525

2,767,932

548,000

50,925,264

4,669,572

12,902,536

4,184,066

13,837,095

36,394,486

213,773,441

Taka

2009

30 September

As at

65,647,625

831,717

3,215,388

2,430,474

2,498,766

722,720

777,918

1,429,363

5,167,645

3,406,550

7,196,513

-

37,970,571

Taka

2008

1 October

As at

40,777,786

382,723

2,891,546

968,854

1,213,420

9,955

4,367,827

362,674

2,317,582

675,422

2,400,632

-

25,187,152

Taka

the period

for

Charged

19,256,626

470,564

2,573,159

1,971,525

1,650,795

190,100

-

73,458

2,979,981

2,253,019

2,975,824

-

4,118,202

Taka

the period

for

Adjustment

Accumulated depreciation

As at

As at

87,168,786

743,876

3,533,775

1,427,803

2,061,391

542,575

5,145,745

1,718,579

4,505,246

1,828,953

6,621,322

-

59,039,521

Taka

2009

270,961,064

764,680

10,105,601

1,551,723

706,541

5,425

45,779,519

2,950,993

8,397,290

2,355,113

7,215,773

36,394,486

154,733,920

Taka

2009

240,237,541

941,814

7,680,887

1,323,985

1,528,553

15,380

30,338,807

3,313,667

4,871,304

643,649

4,023,861

36,394,486

149,161,148

Taka

2008

30 September 30 September 30 September

As at

Written down value
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4.5. Depreciation allocated to:
For 12 months from

5.

Extended 6 months from

Cumulative 18 months from

1 October 2009

1 October 2008

1 October 2010

1 October 2009

1 October 2009

1 October 2008

to 30 September

to 30 September

to 31 March

to 31 March

to 31 March

to 31 March

2010

2009

2011

2010

2011

2010

Taka

Taka

Taka

Taka

Taka

Taka

Manufacturing

131,212,703

29,021,291

43,945,594

82,929,610

175,158,297

111,950,901

Administration

15,337,730

11,756,495

9,966,985

6,999,499

25,304,715

18,755,994

146,550,433

40,777,786

53,912,579

89,929,109

200,463,012

130,706,895

Assets under construction
At 31 March
2011
Taka

At 30 September
2010

2010
Taka

Taka

2009
Taka

Opening balance

-

65,000,000

65,000,000

Addition during the period

-

-

-

65,000,000
-

-

65,000,000

65,000,000

65,000,000

-

(65,000,000)

(65,000,000)

-

-

-

-

65,000,000

Transferred to property, plant and
equipment- plant and machinery

6.

Intangible assets

MBL through an agreement dated 25 April 2005 with Marks & Allys Limited, paid Taka 5,000,000 for acquiring
the intellectual property right and copyright of “Camelia” and “Magnolia” soaps. Taka 15,000,000 had also been
paid for acquiring the intellectual property right and copyright of “Aromatic” brand vide an agreement dated 7
October 2005 with Aromatic Cosmetic Limited.
Marks & Allys Limited:
Intellectual property right

2,500,000

2,500,000

2,500,000

2,500,000

Copyright

2,500,000

2,500,000

2,500,000

2,500,000

5,000,000

5,000,000

5,000,000

5,000,000

7,500,000

7,500,000

7,500,000

7,500,000

Aromatic Cosmetics Limited:
Intellectual property right
Copyright

Incidental to capital expenditure
Total cost
Accumulated amortization
Net value

7,500,000

7,500,000

7,500,000

7,500,000

15,000,000

15,000,000

15,000,000

15,000,000

3,075,125

3,075,125

3,075,125

3,075,125

23,075,125

23,075,125

23,075,125

23,075,125

(16,423,391)

(11,808,366)

(14,115,878)

(10,464,381)

6,651,734

11,266,759

8,959,247

12,610,744
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At 31 March
2011
Taka
7.

At 30 September
2010

2010
Taka

Taka

2009
Taka

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are attributable to the following:
Deductible/ (taxable) temporary differences on:
Property, plant and equipment
32,029,157
Provision for gratuity
8,896,857
Royalty payable
114,217,394
Net deductible temporary difference
155,143,408
Income tax rate
Deferred tax asset

(57,684,162)
8,088,052
57,585,176
7,989,066

12,661,440
8,088,052
88,195,018
108,944,510

(66,693,152)
7,112,927
61,795,610
2,215,385

27.50%

27.50%

27.50%

27.50%

42,664,437

2,196,993

29,959,740

609,231

609,231

(8,290,920)

609,231

(8,290,920)

42,055,207
42,664,437

10,487,913
2,196,993

29,350,509
29,959,740

8,900,151
609,231

698,025,156
82,302,743
247,581,606
152,889,228
1,180,798,733

374,857,970
20,953,500
210,477,501
103,623,873
709,912,844

190,153,722
33,127,783
59,083,057
65,391,044
347,755,606

378,309,743
22,574,684
54,577,417
179,072,508
634,534,352

34,175,260
34,175,260

52,647,281
52,647,281

40,304,110
40,304,110

41,206,023
7,200,000
48,406,023

-

-

-

100,000,000

12,596,946

12,596,946

12,596,946

-

17,022,900
29,619,846

12,596,946

28,155,877
40,752,823

100,000,000

7.1. Movement of deferred tax
Opening balance
Deferred tax income/ (expense)
for the period (note 29)
Closing balance - deferred tax asset
8.

Inventories
Raw materials
Packing materials
Finished goods
Goods in transit

9.

Accrued interest
Interest on FDR
Other Interest

10.

Investments
Investment in zero coupon bonds (note 10.1)
Investment in equity share of
Grameenphone Limited - at cost
Adjustment for change in fair value (note 10.2)

10.1. Investment in zero coupon bonds
The company made investment in 2009 in "Zero Coupon Bond" with IDLC as per "Deed Trust'' dated 29 June 2008 and
'Subscription Agreement' dated 23 September 2008. Ten Zero Coupon Bonds have been allotted in favor of the company
with face value Tk 11,314,082 and issue price Tk 10,000,000 per bond. All zero coupon bonds were encashed during the
year at maturity dates.
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10.2. Investment in equity share of Grameenphone Limited

The Company made investment for acquisition of the following equity shares of Grameenphone Limited:
Acquisition

Market value at

Face value

Costs

31 March 2011

30 September 2010

Number of shares

Taka

Taka

Taka

Taka

170,229 equity shares

1,702,290

12,596,946

29,619,846

40,752,823

These investments were measured at costs upto 31 March 2010 considering the significant uncertainty of high quoted
market price and volatility of stock market. On 30 September 2010 and onward the company measured these investments at
fair value based on quoted market price and any gain or loss thereon were accounted for though comprehensive income.

At 31 March

11.

2011
Taka

2010
Taka

2010
Taka

86,021,442
229,270,709
315,292,151

47,758,202
207,736,335
121,927,391
133,567,146

86,021,442
116,910,887
202,932,329

2009
Taka

Advance income tax
Opening Balance
Addition During the period
Adjustment during the period

12.

At 30 September

47,758,202
160,190,631
121,927,391
86,021,442

Advances and deposits
Advances:
Ethical Drugs Limited*

-

-

-

195,879

Loans to employees

2,849,082

2,749,817

3,133,901

3,668,999

Advance for services

160,513,581
163,362,663

12,646,304
15,396,121

58,598,747
61,732,648

24,815,475
28,680,353

73,898,710
977,162
74,875,872
238,238,535

18,303,873
1,035,763
19,339,636
34,735,757

4,525,977
1,812,741
6,338,718
68,071,366

11,566,839
1,227,119
12,793,958
41,474,311

2,652,015,300

1,037,340,522

Deposits:
VAT current account
Supplementary duty

*Ethical Drugs Limited is a contract manufacturer of Marico Bangladesh Limited.
13.

Fixed deposits
Fixed deposits

2,270,000,000

1,565,318,522

All fixed deposits are held with different banks and financial institutions for a short-term period ranging from 1 month to 12
months with the fixed interest rates of 9.75%-13%.
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At 30 September
2010
2009
Taka
Taka

3,390,411

1,084,713

1,152,752

1,777,483

226,792,286
27,982,825
1,271,048
4,947,856
1,423,233
805,189
263,222,437
266,612,848

32,285,839
417,195
1,284,111
37,518,742
498,737
14,174
72,018,798
73,103,511

58,285,003
9,948,909
1,272,623
35,574,890
506,943
105,588,368
106,741,120

201,354,196
11,398,846
1,284,111
10,712,024
12,201,000
236,950,177
238,727,660

400,000,000

400,000,000

400,000,000

400,000,000

41,500,000

41,500,000

41,500,000

41,500,000

273,500,000
315,000,000

273,500,000
315,000,000

273,500,000
315,000,000

273,500,000
315,000,000

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand
Cash at banks and financial institution:
Citibank N.A.
Standard Chartered Bank
Commercial Bank of Ceylon
HSBC
Dutch Bangla Bank Limited
IDLC Finance Limited

15.

At 31 March
2011
2010
Taka
Taka

Share capital
Authorised
40,000,000 ordinary shares of
Tk 10 each
Issued, subscribed and paid up
Issued for cash
Issued for consideration other than cash

15.1 Percentage of shareholdings
Percentage of shareholdings
Marico Limited, India
Other shareholders

Taka

90%
10%
100%

283,500,000
31,500,000
315,000,000

15.2. Classification of shareholders by holding

Holdings

Less than 500 shares
500 to 5,000 shares
5,001 to 10,000 shares
10,001 to 20,000 shares
20,001 to 30,000 shares
30,001 to 40,000 shares
40,001 to 50,000 shares
50,001 to 100,000 shares
100,001 to 1,000,000 shares
Over 1,000,000 shares
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Number of
holders
3,122
265
24
24
7
4
1
7
1
2
3,457

No of shares

Total holding
(%)

221,250
394,850
187,250
338,550
166,350
139,150
45,350
483,600
124,100
29,399,550
31,500,000

0.70%
1.25%
0.59%
1.07%
0.53%
0.44%
0.14%
1.54%
0.39%
93.33%
100%
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Provision for gratuity
At 31 March
2011
Recognised in the statement of financial position
Additional provision required
Present value of the obligation according to actuarial report (note 16.1)

8,896,857
3,056,143
11,953,000

The Company makes contributions to a non-contributory defined benefit plans that provide pension for employees upon
retirement. The plan entitles a retired employee to receive an annual payment equal to 1X Basic salary for each year of the
services that the employee provided.
16.1. Movement in the present value of the defined obligation

Defined benefit obligation at beginning of the period

8,897,000

Current service cost

2,875,000

Interest cost

783,000

Actuarial (gains)/losses

(205,000)

Benefits paid

(397,000)

Defined benefit obligation at 31 March 2011

11,953,000

Actuarial assumptions
Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date:
Discount rate (net of tax)

9.00%

Future salary increases

10.00%

Future inflation

N/A

Future pension increases

N/A

The discount rate should be based upon the yields available on high quality corporate bonds at the accounting date with a
term that matches that of the liabilities. Due to lack of deep discount corporate bond market in Bangladesh, discount rate has
been chosen with reference to yield on corresponding Govt. Securities.
Sensitivity of liabilities to salary rate assumptions:
Present value of defined obligations at 12.0% salary escalation rate

14,325,000

Present value of defined obligations at 14.0% salary escalation rate

17,419,000

At 31 March
2011
2010
Taka
Taka
17

At 30 September
2010
2009
Taka
Taka

Short term finance
Short term loan:
Citibank N.A
HSBC
Standard Chartered Bank

319,274,019
357,466,882
98,515,200

60,910,613
163,418,427
-

107,530,294
82,097,519
-

8,312,990
68,866,133
-

775,256,101

224,329,040

189,627,813

77,179,123
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17.1 Citibank N.A.
a)

Limit
Total aggregate limit of short term loan and bank overdraft is Tk 1,552.5 million. Short term loan is taken whenever
required.

b)

Nature of security (Short term loan and bank overdraft)
Demand promissory note and letter of continuity for Tk 1,552.5 million.

c)

Rate of interest
Rate of interest has been varied from 9% to 10% depending on the money market and inter relationship.

17.2. HSBC
a)

Limit
Total aggregate limit of short term loan and bank overdraft is Tk 695 million. Short term loan is taken whenever
required.

b)

Nature of security (Short term loan and bank overdraft)
Demand promissory note for Tk 700 million and lender’s first charge over the borrower’s (MBL) stocks, book debts and
receivables up to the aggregate value of Tk 700 million.

c)

Rate of interest
Rate of interest has been varied from 10% to 11% depending on the money market and inter relationship.
At 31 March
2010
2011
Taka
Taka

18.

Liability for expenses
Business promotion expenses

163,490,269

277,430,647

174,432,738

138,846,108

Advertisement expenses

100,871,139

89,644,071

101,023,137

84,508,477

766,250

250,000

250,000

200,000

Audit fees
Leave encashment

10,253,706

8,892,093

9,674,203

8,892,093

Creditors for supplies

74,924,074

70,878,710

131,561,645

18,889,155

Other expenses

19

20

39,721,213

22,117,762

19,598,398

23,709,001

390,026,651

469,213,283

436,540,120

275,044,834

Opening balance
Add: Provision during the period

168,272,288
446,993,181
615,265,469

172,667,019
189,111,702
361,778,721

168,272,288
280,528,253
448,800,541

172,667,019
117,532,660
290,199,679

Reversal of previous period provision
Adjustment for completed assessment

575,937
614,689,532

575,937
121,927,391
239,275,393

575,937
448,224,604

121,927,391
168,272,288

63,597,164
24,553,477
136,932,327
225,082,968

29,339,843
70,592,585
99,932,428

198,815,659
129,363,369
328,179,028

248,506,650
14,616,858
77,992,752
341,116,260

Provision for income tax

Trade creditors
Marico Limited, India
Other Creditor
Import duty and related charges
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At 31 March
2011
2010
Taka
Taka
21.

114,194,010
8,893,986
123,087,996

57,527,596
8,893,986
66,421,582

88,195,018
8,893,986
97,089,004

61,788,963
8,893,986
70,682,949

3,388,513
4,983,851
8,372,364

20,559,849
1,422,774
21,982,623

31,828,337
3,221,109
35,049,446

21,109,845
4,269,227
25,379,072

Other liabilities
Advance from customers
Tax and VAT deducted from vendors' bills

23.

At 30 September
2010
2009
Taka
Taka

Payable to holding company
Royalty
Bank guarantee commission

22.

Marico Bangladesh Limited

Revenue
for 12 months from
1 October 2009

Extended 6 months from

1 October 2008

to 30 September to 30 September

Cumulative 18 months from

1 October 2010

1 October 2009

1 October 2009

1 October 2008

to 31 March

to 31 March

to 31 March

to 31 March

2010

2009

2011

2010

2011

2010

Taka

Taka

Taka

Taka

Taka

Taka

Products
Parachute coconut oil 4,998,255,200 3,821,246,607 2,599,899,201 1,937,271,000 7,598,154,401 5,758,517,607
Beli

74,712,937

35,423,399

62,856,869

37,658,618

137,569,805

73,082,017

Soap

149,227,231

176,226,995

57,059,926

67,603,894

206,287,157

243,830,889

Parachute extension

12,889,005

1,437,385

26,368,701

3,823,248

39,257,706

5,260,633

Parachute advansed

12,713,572

19,883,432

10,756,014

2,275,879

23,469,586

22,159,311

Hair code

73,725,796

1,794,079

55,259,821

27,741,648

128,985,618

29,535,727

Saffola

25,685,219

688,797

18,602,313

1,697,848

44,287,531

2,386,645

Kaya

11,128,110

-

14,872,404

1,860,943

26,000,514

1,860,943

5,358,337,069 4,056,700,694 2,845,675,249 2,079,933,077 8,204,012,318 6,136,633,771
24.

Cost of sales
Opening stock of finished goods
Cost of goods manufactured (note 24.1)

54,577,417

48,861,534

59,083,057

54,577,417

54,577,417

48,861,534

3,761,094,021 2,984,727,072 2,274,804,416 1,589,588,054 6,035,898,437 4,574,315,126
3,815,671,438 3,033,588,606 2,333,887,473 1,644,165,471 6,090,475,854 4,623,176,660

Closing stock of finished goods

59,083,057

54,577,417

247,581,606

210,477,501

247,581,606

210,477,501

3,756,588,381 2,979,011,189 2,086,305,867 1,433,687,970 5,842,894,248 4,412,699,159
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for 12 months from

Extended 6 months from

Cumulative 18 months from

1 October 2009

1 October 2008

1 October 2010

1 October 2009

1 October 2009

1 October 2008

to 30 September

to 30 September

to 31 March

to 31 March

to 31 March

to 31 March

2010

2009

2011

2010

2011

2010

Taka

Taka

Taka

Taka

Taka

Taka

24.1. Cost of goods manufactured
Materials consumed:
Opening stock of raw
and packing materials

400,884,427

127,012,473

223,281,505

400,884,427

400,884,427

127,012,473

Purchases during the
year

3,425,579,877

3,202,404,713

2,769,911,773

1,489,104,680

6,195,491,650

4,691,509,393

223,281,505

400,884,427

780,327,899

395,811,470

780,327,899

395,811,470

3,603,182,799

2,928,532,759

2,212,865,379

1,494,177,637

5,816,048,178

4,422,710,396

Salary and wages

12,163,298

9,187,650

7,363,190

5,744,671

19,526,488

14,932,321

Power expenses

3,491,829

2,672,415

2,142,336

1,795,479

5,634,165

4,467,894

Factory rent

2,748,534

1,417,244

1,911,456

1,311,085

4,659,990

2,728,329

84,493

915,795

83,080

73,333

167,573

989,128

Repairs and maintenance
of plant and machinery

2,402,499

2,514,992

2,159,681

1,651,860

4,562,180

4,166,852

Repairs and maintenance
of factory building

2,224,774

789,208

850,972

247,940

3,075,746

1,037,148

131,212,703

29,021,291

43,945,594

82,929,610

175,158,297

111,950,901

3,583,092

9,675,718

3,482,728

1,656,439

7,065,820

11,332,157

157,911,222

56,194,313

61,939,037

95,410,417

219,850,259

151,604,730

3,761,094,021

2,984,727,072

2,274,804,416

1,589,588,054

6,035,898,437

4,574,315,126

17,140,964

10,051,185

19,576,643

4,235,297

36,717,607

14,286,482

477,394,813

236,248,113

155,936,911

230,590,283

633,331,724

466,838,396

10,817,934

4,029,568

-

10,817,934

10,817,934

14,847,502

7,710,527

2,508,177

5,108,708

3,571,411

12,819,235

6,079,588

40,617,630

25,233,711

21,681,799

18,224,837

62,299,429

43,458,548

553,681,868

278,070,754

202,304,061

267,439,762

755,985,929

545,510,516

Closing stock of raw
and packing materials

Factory overhead

Loading charges

Depreciation
Other expenses

25.

Distribution expenses
Business promotion
expenses
Advertisement
Market research
expenses
Redistribution
expenses
Freight- outward
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for 12 months from
1 October 2009

Extended 6 months from

1 October 2008

to 30 September to 30 September
2010
Taka

26

2009
Taka

Cumulative 18 months from

1 October 2010

1 October 2009

1 October 2009

1 October 2008

to 31 March

to 31 March

to 31 March

to 31 March

2011
Taka

2010
Taka

2011
Taka

2010
Taka

Administration expenses
Salaries and allowances

107,687,218

74,568,323

60,594,616

46,018,766

168,281,835

120,587,089

975,124

4,877,470

2,130,770

975,124

3,105,894

5,852,594

Rent

8,497,589

1,534,225

6,078,524

2,951,018

14,576,113

4,485,243

Professional charges

9,444,639

5,900,047

7,741,139

3,356,312

17,185,778

9,256,359

Security charges

1,465,693

708,753

759,801

708,547

2,225,494

1,417,300

Legal charges

4,626,534

959,181

206,799

442,435

4,833,333

1,401,616

14,372,669

19,455,730

3,578,737

7,150,466

17,951,405

26,606,196

262,500

-

157,500

52,500

420,000

52,500

Repair and maintenance

11,615,965

5,210,170

5,317,545

4,814,571

16,933,510

10,024,741

Communication expenses

9,456,330

6,567,166

4,329,069

4,422,923

13,785,399

10,990,089

80,000

50,000

-

-

80,000

50,000

Entertainment

3,176,046

1,295,896

1,809,911

1,022,230

4,985,957

2,318,126

Printing and stationery

3,980,165

1,618,326

1,507,126

2,165,850

5,487,291

3,784,176

Vehicle running expenses

9,071,011

7,837,602

6,892,472

4,175,734

15,963,483

12,013,336

Travelling and conveyance

24,228,524

15,062,804

13,063,864

12,738,525

37,292,388

27,801,329

Audit fees

1,141,375

132,875

1,493,052

-

2,634,427

132,875

Recruitment expenses

1,755,163

264,462

875,310

1,467,602

2,630,473

1,732,064

730,181

323,289

73,897

-

804,078

323,289

92,655

81,218

49,992

36,801

142,647

118,019

-

77,791,645

-

-

-

77,791,645

Bank charges

5,955,823

2,312,110

11,049,602

3,585,044

17,005,425

5,897,154

Staff welfare expenses

2,710,085

2,374,212

2,046,745

1,715,009

4,756,830

4,089,221

Conference and training
expenses

-

453,772

51,898

-

51,898

453,772

Electricity & gas charges

1,272,645

1,479,545

482,650

438,786

1,755,295

1,918,331

Amortization of brand
rights

3,651,498

2,687,970

2,307,513

1,343,985

5,959,011

4,031,955

49,982,552

38,212,466

25,998,992

19,372,710

75,981,544

57,585,176

-

404,852

(19,126)

-

(19,126)

404,852

15,337,730

11,756,495

9,966,985

6,999,499

25,304,715

18,755,994

540,863

20,727,049

70,000

540,863

610,863

21,267,912

292,110,577

304,647,653

168,615,383

126,495,300

460,725,960

431,142,953

Gratuity

Director's remuneration
Director's fees

Subscription to trade
association

Insurance premium
Books and periodicals
Deferred expenses
written off

Royalty*
Loss/(profit) on sale of
asset
Depreciation
Public Issue expenses

*

Marico Bangladesh Limited

It includes income tax deducted at sources in accordance with the ITO 1984
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for 12 months from

27.

1 October 2008

1 October 2010

1 October 2009

1 October 2009

1 October 2008

to 30 September

to 30 September

to 31 March

to 31 March

to 31 March

to 31 March

2010
Taka

2009
Taka

2011
Taka

2010
Taka

2011
Taka

2010
Taka

Other income
164,793,397

80,867,583

130,326,984

72,701,996

295,120,381

153,569,579

-

-

1,617,176

-

1,617,176

-

30,738,027

10,510,265

1,331,903

2,431,448

32,069,930

12,941,713

8,712,918

17,664

1,296,896

7,996,294

10,009,814

8,013,958

204,244,342

91,395,512

134,572,959

83,129,738

338,817,301

174,525,250

33,910,330

6,869,004

12,005,647

3,707,660

45,915,977

10,576,664

33,910,330

6,869,004

12,005,647

3,707,660

45,915,977

10,576,664

Current tax expense

280,528,253

117,532,660

166,464,928

71,579,042

446,993,181

189,111,702

Deferred tax income

(29,350,509)

(8,900,151)

(12,704,698)

(1,587,762)

(42,055,207)

(10,487,913)

251,177,744

108,632,509

153,760,230

69,991,280

404,937,974

178,623,789

470,865,097

357,257,020

261,740,843

Dividend income
Interest on call deposit
Exchange gain

Finance costs
Interest on term loan

29.

30.

Cumulative 18 months from

1 October 2009

Interest on fixed deposit

28.

Extended 6 months from

Income tax expense

Earnings per share

30.1 Basic Earnings Per Share
The computation of EPS is given below:
Earnings attributable to
ordinary share holders

675,112,511

1,032,369,531

732,605,940

(Net profit after tax)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during
the year

31,500,000

28,626,164

31,500,000

31,500,000

31,500,000

26,175,000

Earnings per share
(EPS) in Taka

21.43

16.45

11.34

8.31

32.77

27.99

30.2. Diluted earnings per share
No diluted EPS was required to be calculated for the period since there was no scope for dilution of share during the period
under review.
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Related party transactions
Transactions from
1 October 2009
to 31 March
2011
Name of the related party
Marico Limited, India

Relationship

Nature of transactions

Parent company

Taka

Purchase of raw materials

2,030,000,878

Royalty

75,981,544

Cash dividend

127,575,000

Total

2,233,557,422

The Company has purchased raw materials from Marico Limited, India in normal course of business on arm’s length transaction
basis.
32.

33.

Capacity

Major product

Unit of
measure

PCNO

KL

Budgeted capacity
in 18 months

Actual production
in 18 months

30,000

25,503

Percentage of
capacity
utilised
85%

Remarks
Excess capacity to meet
future demand

Contingent Liabilities
At 31 March 2011
US dollar
Outstanding L/Cs

6,549,324

Taka
480,196,428

Contingent liabilities include L/C amount for import of raw material which were not received till the reporting date.
34.

Financial risk management

34.1 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations which arises principally from the Company’s investment securities.
The Company makes sales on advance basis i.e. it receives advance from customer prior to sale so there is no credit risk due to
uncollectability from the customers.
Exposure of financial assets
Investments

29,619,846

Accrued interest

34,175,260

Fixed deposits
Cash and cash equivalents
Total financial assets

2,270,000,000
266,612,848
2,600,407,954
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34.2. Liquidity risk
The Company has sufficient liquid fund and surplus investments over financial liabilities which is sufficient to meet its liabilities
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring losses or risking Company’s reputation.
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities of the Company as at 31 March 2011:
Carrying

Cash

Up to

Above 1 year

amount

flows

1 year

to 5 years

Taka

Taka

Taka

Taka

Exposure of liquidity risk
Short term finance

775,256,101

775,256,101

775,256,101

-

Liability for expenses

390,026,651

390,026,651

390,026,651

-

5,056,327

5,056,327

5,056,327

-

Trade creditors

225,082,968

225,082,968

225,082,968

-

Payable to holding company

123,087,996

123,087,996

123,087,996

-

8,372,364

8,372,364

8,372,364

-

Total financial liabilities

1,526,882,407

1,526,882,407

1,526,882,407

-

Surplus of financial assets over financial liabilities

1,073,525,547

Interest payable

Other liabilities

33.3. Market risk
Market risk is the risk that includes changes in market price, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices that
may affect the company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management
is to manage and control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.
The company’s exposures to foreign currency risk at 31 March are as follows:
US Dollar
Short term finance
Trade payables

10,667,365
867,392
11534757

35.

Value of import calculated on CIF Basis
1 October 2009
to 31 March 2011
Taka
Raw materials

2,261,794,809

Capital goods

4,493,272
2,266,288,081

36.

General

36.1 The number of employees engaged for the whole period or part thereof who received a total salary of Tk 36,000 p.a. and
above was 104.
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36.2 Previous year’s figures have been rearranged wherever considered necessary.
37.

Events after the reporting period
An amount of Tk 134 million has been paid as cost of acquisition of 515.50 decimal land for setting up factory at Gazipur,
Bangladesh.
The Board of Directors of Marico Bangladesh Limited has recommended 20% cash dividend i.e. Tk 2.00 per share for the
eighteen months period ended on 31 March 2011 at the Board meeting held on 24 April 2011.
There are no other events identified after the statement of financial position date which might be material.
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Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

Marico signed MOU with Bangladesh
Agricultural Research Institute (BARI)
to help educate farmers in Copra
(basic raw material for coconut oil)
manufacturing, CBO (Community
Based Organization) formation and
other technical assistance.

Marico has facilitated poor farmers/
labors through training and providing
copra manufacturing machineries,
foreign consultancy for manufacturing
copra which has generated
employment in rural area.

Marico Bangladesh Limited organized a day long free health camp to serve the general public on
September 25, 2010 under banner Saffola Gold.
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New Product Launching
Marico Launched a series of new products i.e. Haircode Hair-dye, Haircode Hair-color, Saffola Gold,
Parachute Advansed Cooling Hair Oil, Hair & Care and Kaya Skin Care Clinic.

Saffola Gold

Kaya Skin Care Clinic
at Dhanmondi

Hair & Care

Parachute Advansed Cooling Hair Oil
78
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More to Life
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Training

Marico Quality Week
Marico observed Quality Week on 13th – 16th December 2010 for manufacturing and total quality
management with Slogan “The

Value of Quality & the Quality of this Value”.
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Notice of the 11th Annual General Meeting
MARICO BANGLADESH LIMITED
Registerd & Corporate Office
House-01, Road-01, Sector-01,
Uttara Model Town, Dhaka-1230.

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN to all members of Marico Bangladesh Limited that the Eleventh Annual General Meeting of the
members of the Company will be held on Tuesday, June 28, 2011 at 10.30 a.m. at Golf Garden, Army Golf Club, Airport
Road, Dhaka to transact the following businesses:
ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.

To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the 18 months period ended March 31, 2011
together with the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors.

2.

To confirm interim dividend of Tk. 2.50 per equity share and to declare final dividend for the period ended March
31, 2011 as recommended by the Board of Directors.

3.

To appoint a Director in place of Mr. Vijay Subramaniam, who retires by rotation, and being eligible, offers himself
for re-appointment.

4.

To appoint a Director in place of Mr. Debashish Neogi, who retires by rotation, and being eligible, offers himself for
re-appointment.

5.

To re-appoint M/s. Rahman Rahman Huq, Chartered Accountants, as Statutory Auditors and fix their remuneration
for the financial year ending March 31, 2012.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
6.

To recommend confirmation of appointment of Mr. Rohit Jaiswal, Managing Director of the company in the ensuing
Annual General Meeting.

June 8, 2011

By Order of the Board of Directors

Iqbal Chowdhury
Company Secretary.

NOTES:
1.

Notice is hereby given that 8th May 2011 shall be considered as the Record date for entitlement of Final Dividend
for the period ended March 31, 2011.

2.

A member eligible to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may appoint a proxy to attend and vote on
his/her behalf. Proxy Form must be affixed with requisite revenue stamp and must be submitted to the Corporate
Office of the Company not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the Annual General Meeting i.e. not later
than June 23, 2011.

3.

Change of address, if any, should be notified to the related Depository Participant.

4.

Admission to the meeting venue will be on production of the attendance slip attached with the Annual Report.

5.

The Annual Report is available at the company website - www.maricobd.com.
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MARICO BANGLADESH LIMITED
Registerd & Corporate Office : House-1, Road-1, Sector-1, Uttara, Dhaka-1230, Bangladesh

ATTENDANCE SLIP
ELEVENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING ON TUESDAY, JUNE 28, 2011 AT 10:30.A.M.
BO ID
No. of Shares held
I certify that I am a registered shareholder / proxy for the registered shareholder of the Company.
I hereby record my presence at the ELEVENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company to be held at Golf Garden,
Army Golf Club, Airport Road, Dhaka, Bangladesh at 10:30.a.m Tuesday, June 28, 2011.

Member’s / Proxy’s name in BLOCK letter

Member’s / Proxy’s signature

Note : Please fill in the attendance slip and hand it over at the entrance of the Meeting Venue.

MARICO BANGLADESH LIMITED
Registerd & Corporate Office : House-1, Road-1, Sector-1, Uttara, Dhaka-1230, Bangladesh

PROXY FORM
ELEVENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING ON TUESDAY, JUNE 28, 2011 AT 10:30.A.M.
BO ID
No. of Shares held
I/We ____________________________________________ of ________________________________ being
a member / members of the above-named Company hereby appoint Mr./Mrs. _______________________________
of _________________________________________ as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the
ELEVENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the company to be held at Golf Garden, Army Golf Club, Airport Road,
Dhaka, Bangladesh at 10:30.a.m Tuesday, June 28, 2011. and at any adjournment(s) thereof.
Signed this ____/ _____/ 2011

Revenue
Stamp

Signature of Proxy ______________________
Signature of Member ____________________

Notes:
1.
2.
3.

A Member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of himself.
A Proxy need not be a Member.
This form in order to be effective must be duly stamped, completed and signed and must be deposited at the registered Office of the Company,
not later than 48 hours before the commencement of the meeting i.e. not later than June 23, 2011.

